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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
 
Dear shareholders, 

Before analysing the figures for 2016, we wish to inform you about the 
changes that affected the corporate structure of Factorit S.p.A..  

As of 1 January 2017, after the issuing of authorizations by the 
competent authorities, Banco Popolare Soc. Coop. and Banca Popolare di 
Milano Scarl ceased to exist as a result of the “direct merger” by setting up a new 
banking company in the form of a joint stock company named Banco BPM 
S.p.A., with registered offices in Milan, Piazza Filippo Meda no. 4, Tax code, 
VAT no. and Milan company registration no. 09722490969, and administrative 
headquarters in Verona, piazza Nogara n. 2. 

Pursuant to art. 2504-bis of Italian Civil Code, Banco BPM S.p.A. has 
assumed the rights and obligations of the two companies participating in the 
Merger, continuing in all their previous relationships. 

As a result of the above Banco BPM S.p.A., from the date mentioned 
above, has become the holder of total no. 33,575,001 shares, worth 1 Euro each, 
of Factorit S.p.A., corresponding to 39.50% of the share capital, previously held 
by Banco Popolare Soc. Coop. (8,075,001 shares, corresponding to 9.50% of the 
share capital) and Banca Popolare di Milano Scarl (25,500,000 shares 
representing 30.00% of the share capital). 

 
The 2016 financial statements was the thirty-eighth year of operations of 

the company, which recorded a profit of 3,229,386 Euro. 
 
 

THE INTERNATIONAL SITUATION 
 
2016 was characterized by uncertainty. Uncertainty due to the several 

geopolitical events which impacted negatively on world affairs, starting from the 
numerous conflicts, of which the Middle East ones are only a part, up to 
emergencies related to refugees and migratory phenomena, appeared out of 
control at times. Heinous acts of terrorism have taken steps to extend the 
Western world fears and anxieties. All this has been reflected in global economic 
dynamics.   

A year of lack of shared visions among the major actors on the 
international scene and, more specifically, of Europe. The European Union, born 
on 25 March 1957 with the signing of the Treaties of Rome, celebrated its sixty 
years of life in one of the worst moments of its history. Dented by Brexit, it 
seems to have lost its sense of self, unable to find the reasons for its own 
existence. 2017 seems to be a year of transition; the problem is that many of the 
member countries do not appear to share the common goal to which they are 
addressed.  

About the economic affairs, the world economy, albeit in a gradual 
growth, has highlighted a worrying stagnation in trades. Among the causes, the 
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strengthening of Chinese domestic demand, which seems to have reduced the 
propensity of the Asian giant enterprises to export. 

A second important element of weakness is represented by the reduced 
dynamic range of global investment which has affected both the most advanced 
and emerging countries. 

Inflation has remained on a fairly low level in the United States - around 
2% -, it was almost absent in Japan (0.5%) and reached 1% in the Eurozone. 
While the Federal Reserve boosted rates, albeit timidly, the ECB and the BOJ 
have continued in an expansive policy. 

 
Growth in the United States has not led to the expected results. After a 

+2.5% in the previous year, 2016 closed with a GDP growth of +1.6%, only. 
Among the reasons, the reflective trend of domestic demand, due to the fall in 
investment and the slowdown in consumption. However, the situation regarding 
the employment of the workforce remained positive, with unemployment at 
around 4.7%. Prospects for the immediate future are linked to the choices that 
will be made by the new Administration, especially with regard to commercial 
policies, where possible restrictive measures are assumed. 

China, perhaps destined to become less and less commercial partner and 
more and more antagonistic to the new US course, maintained its growth rate 
substantially stable (close to 7%), with an appreciable increase in domestic 
demand driven by the fiscal and monetary stimulus. According to many analysts, 
the risks associated with both the real estate bubble and the level of 
indebtedness of many companies remain. 

India has given continuity to a sustained pace of GDP (more than 7%), 
while Brazil is still facing a severe recession, aggravated by the difficult political 
situation. Russia, whose prospects of returning to growth are more than ever 
linked to the performance of commodity prices, has benefited from the recovery 
in oil prices.  

Japan has experienced a slowdown in the economic cycle, with GDP 
now close to 1%, attributable to the weakness of investment and consumption. 

In spite of the negative outcomes linked to Brexit, the United Kingdom 
recorded an improvement of about 2.5%. Naturally, in the medium term, there 
are uncertainties about the possible consequences of leaving the European 
Union. 

 
In the Eurozone, there was a consolidation of a process of moderate 

growth, with a final result estimated for the whole 2016 around 1.7%. The 
recovery in inflation, encouraged by persistent expansive monetary policies, was 
also largely linked to the rise in energy prices and has manifested itself quite 
unevenly in the various national economies, with Italy in the queue. Both 
consumer and business confidence indices showed a slight increase. The 
unemployment figure is still heavy. 

The Swiss Confederation achieved a growth of 1.6% higher than 
expectations in 2016, mainly driven by domestic consumption. Growth, 
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however, is offset by the strength of the Swiss franc, which is a source of export 
difficulties, down by about 1%, and has penalized, among other things, the watch 
industry. Unemployment is always within physiological limits, while the price 
index is still negative. 
 
 
ITALY 
 

After the stalled growth of 2015 (+0.6%), ISTAT certified, with a +0.9% 
for 2016, the gradual recovery in our country. 

The improvement came from domestic demand, both in the private 
consumption component (+1.5%) and in public (+0.7%) and in investment 
(+2.1%). In addition, after 8 bouncing years, it is noted a return to investment in 
the construction sector. 

The trade balance improved from 28 billion to 37 billion: deciding the 
lowest cost of energy imports (10 billion), facilitated by the drop in oil prices. 

The labor market situation is still heavy, with youth unemployment 
reached 40%. 

The deflation risk has gone down and at the end of the year the price 
increase was 0.5%, which, however, is disadvantageous in comparison with 
European data on almost twice as high: 1.1%. 

The strategy to support growth decelerating the return of the ratio 
between the public budget deficit and gross domestic product, falling from 2.6% 
in 2015 to 2.4% in 2016, is confirmed in the 2017 financial plan, where, in spite 
of an upward trend of 1.6%, the government has set the ratio to 2.3%, which 
implies a mobilization of more resources for about 12 billion. 

Public debt should have again burdened, moving to 132.8% of GDP 
compared to 132.3% in 2015.  

The spread ranged from 97 to 160 basis points after approaching the 
190. The performance of the spread was affected by negative external factors 
(the rise in yields triggered by the US elections) and positive (the shield of 
Quantitative Easing ECB). 

Especially for Italy, margins of monetary policy are exhausted and those 
of fiscal policy remain very close, so it will be important to make progress on 
technological innovations and structural reforms, electoral and social situation 
permitting, in order to be able to raise a particularly low productivity. 
 
 
FACTORING, THE DOMESTIC MARKET 
 
The Italian factoring sector has returned to substantial growth in 2016. The data 
provided by Assifact, the Association of Italian Factoring Companies, shows that it 
is about 12% of national GDP and confirms the decisive role of factoring for the 
financial support to businesses and the return to the positive sign of the 
performance of the Italian economy. 
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The total business volume in 2016, in terms of turnover, rose 9.5% compared to 
2015, with positive percentage increases also in terms outstanding, +6.2%, and 
advances and fees paid, +8.4%. 
 
Table 1. Performance of the Italian factoring sector (source: Assifact) 

 
2013 2014 2015 2016

Turnover 171,578,970 177,542,805 184,796,669 202,402,830

Outstanding 54,775,632 55,809,053 57,493,137 61,009,983

Advances 42,950,579 43,880,257 45,838,518 49,703,046

Advances/Outstanding 78.4% 78.6% 79.7% 81.5%

(�’000) 

 
Based on the year-end information provided by Assifact, 51.6% of the Italian 
factoring companies are financial intermediaries pursuant to article 106 “Albo 
unico” (generating 54% of the turnover); the Banks account for 25.8% of the 
operators (39.5% of turnover) while the other intermediaries represent 22.6% 
(6.5% of turnover).  
Loans and receivables assigned to the top 5 operators (which all belong to 
banking groups), one of which is Factorit, account for 71.2% of the market’s total 
turnover. 
 
 
COMPANY PERFORMANCE 
 
Results 

 
The company made a profit of €3.2 million for the year after recognising 

gross impairment losses on loans and receivable for €31.9 million and on other 
financial transactions for €0.1 million. The increase in adjustments was mainly 
due to the provisions relating to the position of a major German group / client, 
which had a total financial exposure of €27.6 million. Confirmed the liquidation 
nature of the bankruptcy proceedings established in Germany, the amounts set 
aside were transferred to the loss. Value repayments were €13.4 million on loans 
and €0.2 million on other financial transactions. Total net adjustments therefore 
amount to 18.4 million Euros. 
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Graph 1. Profit for the year (�’000) 
 

 
 
Total income amounted to €42.5 million, including financial income of 

€21.9 million and fee and commission income of €20.6 million, essentially in line 
with the previous year and the market trend. 
Revenue from one-off fees and commissions on the assignment of loans and 
receivables are recognised over their term. Periodic and deferred fees and 
commissions are recognised when received on an accruals basis. 
 

Graph 2. Fee and commission income (�’000) 
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Graph 3. Net interest income (�’000) 
 

 
 

The substantial increase in net impairment losses to €18.4 million (€2.8 
million in 2015), had a negative effect on the pre-tax profit of €3.9 million. 

 
The following table presents the company’s results and ratios with 

comparative prior year data to give an immediate and transparent view of its 
performance. 

 
Table 2. Reclassified income statement 

 
  2015 2016
Net fee and commission income 22,851 20,621
Net interest income 29,003 21,872
Net trading income 18 -17
Total income 51,872 42,476
Total net cost of risks 1,481 18,503
Total net operating expenses 20,272 20,172
Operating 30,119 3,802
  

 

(€’000)
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Key events of the year 
 
During its meetings in the year, the Board of Directors has consistently 

analyzed and evaluated the reports provided by the Corporate Governance 
concerning the company's business performance, the exposure of large sellers 
and large debtors, risk positions (classified between the non-performing and / or 
unlikely to pay) and the consistency of provisions made against them, as well as 
loans impairment. Quarterly, the Board of Directors also examined the 
company's financial situation as well as the documentation relating to the 
composition of the existing portfolio (aging, exposures over 25 million euros), 
the resolutions adopted on the Trusts and litigations, own funds, liquidity risk, 
and equity investments held in non-financial companies (associations 
participating in initiatives in the field of business in the cinematographic sector). 

During the year, the Board of Directors also adopted, in accordance with 
the regulations issued by the Parent, appropriate internal rules for the proper 
and efficient management of the company. In accordance with the forecasts of 
the 15th update of the Bank of Italy circular no. 263 of December 27, 2006, the 
reports prepared by the Board of Directors (Compliance, Internal Audit, Risk 
Management) have also been brought to the attention of the Board, in addition 
to the Report of the Anti-Money Laundering Policy prepared pursuant to the 
Bank of Italy measure of 10 March 2011, art. 7.2, D. Lgs. n. 231/2007. 

 
On 22 January 2016, the Board of Directors appointed Professor Roberto 

Ruozi as Chairman of the company, replacing Piero Melazzini, who died on 
November 30, 2015. 
 

On 19 February 2016, the Board of Directors approved the draft 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015, which showed a 
profit of €20.8 million, and the related profit allocation. 
 

The Board convened the Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting for March 23, 
2016. At the same meeting, the 2016-2018 Business Plan and the 2016 Budget 
were presented and approved. 
 

On 23 March 2016, the ordinary shareholders' meeting met in Milan, via 
Cino del Duca 12, and discussed, among other things, the following items on the 
agenda: 

- Presentation of the 2015 Financial Statements; 
- Appointment of the Board of Directors for the three-year period 

2016-2018; 
- Appointment of the Board of Statutory Auditors for the three-year 

period 2016-2018. 
 
The Board of Directors also verified the requirements of company 

representatives under DM n. 516 of 30 December 1998, and the absence of 
charges assumed or exercised by the Board of Directors and Board of Statutory 
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Auditors in companies or groups of competing companies, operating in the 
credit market, insurance and finance, pursuant to art. 36 of D.L. n. 201/2011 said 
“Salva Italia”. 
Dr. Mario Alberto Pedranzini was appointed Vice-President while Dr. Antonio 
De Martini was appointed Managing Director. 
 

On 6 May 2016, the Board of Directors reviewed the interim Financial 
Statements as at 31 March 2016 while on 3 August 2016 reviewed the half-year 
Financial Statements as at 30 June 2016. 

 
In May, the company’s enrollment schedule was finalized in the new 

register of financial intermediaries under art. 106 TUB. With effect from 23 May 
2016, Factorit results in all effects recorded at c.d. “Albo Unico” with number 52. 

 
On 28 October 2016, the Board of Directors approved the interim 

Financial Statements as at 30 September 2016. 
 
With reference to the new structure of the Commercial Department, 

with effect from 14 January 2016, two further organizational changes were 
made. The first involved the creation of Area Territory Lombardy and, 
consequently and residually, Area Territory Piedmont, North East and South 
Center; the second, as the natural evolution of what has been decided in the 
recent past, the hierarchical dependence of local organizational units from the 
same Areas (Service Order n.39). 

With effect from 9 May 2016, the Trade Department dedicated to the 
management of Large Customers and Large Debtors has been modified and split 
into two distinct areas (“Large Customers” and “Large Debtors, Tourism and 
Automotive”) to ensure, on the one hand, the more efficient management of the 
most significant relationships in terms of profitability, volumes and risk and, 
secondly, to enable a greater focus of activities towards sectors in which the 
company intends to gain market share (Order of Service n.40). 

During the second half of the year, the “Lombardy Branch” was further 
strengthened through a more efficient allocation of existing resources and the 
introduction of new profiles of proven experience and professionalism in 
customer management and development activities. 
 

On 1 August 2016, the Naples branch was closed, a decision that was 
resolved mainly following the resignation of the sales manager. Commercial 
activities for the Center and South Italy have been centralized in Rome branch. 
 

In 2016, 3 new Conventions were signed for the reporting of factoring 
transactions with as many Credit Institutions. 
Finally, it is recalled that during the year the company sent several 
communications to the Bank of Italy, among which the most significant were:  

- “Interlocking Verifications” (11/04/2016) - submission of the minutes 
of the Board of Directors dated 23/03/2016 verifying that none of the 
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members of the Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory 
Auditors were in a situation of incompatibility within the art. 36 of 
D.L. nr. 201/2011 said “Salva Italia”;  

- “Verification of the Requirements of Corporate Members and Home 
Election” (11/04/2016) - Transmission of the minutes of the Board of 
Directors of 23/03/2016 which verified the requirements of the 
corporate members under the D.M. n. 516/1998 and contextual 
election of domicile; 

- “Outsourcing of the Important Operations of Factorit” (24/10/16 and 
15/12/2016) - Broadcasting, in compliance with the general 
principles and requirements for outsourcing of Corporate Functions, 
as regulated by the Bank of Italy circular nr. 288/2015, on the 
outsourcing of Factorit’s major operational functions (FOI). 

 
 
Commercial performance 

 
Loans and receivables assigned during the year amounted to 10,416 

million, with an increase of 11.7% compared to the previous year (9,324 million). 
Loans and receivables assigned without recourse, i.e., when payment is 

guaranteed, made up 55.2% of the total turnover while those assigned with 
recourse accounted for 44.8%. 

 
Active customers numbered were 1,290 at year-end, down 4.6% on the previous 
year-end. 
 
Table 3. Operating figures 

 
2015 2016 Variation 

Turnover 9,324,298 10,416,054 11.7% 
including: without recourse 4,547,497 5,751,799 26.5% 
including: with recourse 4,776,801 4,664,255 -2.4% 
Net fee and commission income (%) 0.25 0.20  
Advances (stock) at 31/12 1,652,089 2,199,463 33.1% 
Outstanding 2,351,366 2,770,878 17.8% 
including: without recourse 1,074,671 1,543,715 43.6% 
including: with recourse 1,276,695 1,227,163 -3.9% 
No. of dossiers processed 1,443,615 1,317,514 -8.7% 

(�’000) 
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Graph 4. Outstanding loans and receivables (�m) 
 

 
 
The average term of loans and receivables increased to 97 days (2015: 

92), compared to a market average of 110. This reduction was mainly due to the 
type of Factorit’s customers and, therefore, their payment terms. 

 
A breakdown by segment of the loans and receivables assigned at 31 

December 2016 shows that most of the volumes are generated by customers 
belonging to the Manufacture segment (26.2%), followed by wholesale (18.2%); 
Energy Sector (13.1%), Services (12.2%), Buildings (4.3%), Food Sector (2.7%), 
Transport (2.6%) and Health Sector (2.5%). The “Other” class covers the 
remaining 18.2%. 

 
Graph 5. Breakdown of turnover by merchant sector of originator 
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An analysis of turnover by product shows that the traditional factoring 
accounts for 37.7% of total volumes. Financing products without notice to the 
debtor make up 43.7% of the total, followed by maturity factoring (16% of the 
total) and products with guarantee only without notice (2.6% of the total). 

 
Table 4. Product segmentation (percentage of total) 

 
2014 2015 2016 

Traditional factoring 42.1% 35.2% 37.7% 
Financing products without notice 39.1% 44.4% 43.7% 
Maturity factoring 15.7% 17.6% 16.0% 
Guarantee only without notice 3.1% 2.8% 2.6% 
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

(%) 

 
Domestic transactions made up 75.4% of total loans and receivables 

factored (turnover of €7,852 million). Export factoring accounted for 19.6% 
(€2,046 million) and import factoring for 5% (€518 million). 

 
Graph 6. Breakdown of turnover by geographical segment 
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Lazio, which became the first region in terms of turnover in 2016 thanks to 
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Graph 7. Breakdown of customers by macro geographical segment 
 

 
(percentages calculated considering the customers’ registered office) 
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79.4% of the outstanding loans and receivables. 
 

Graph 8. Advances (�m) 
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Considering the banking channel as a whole, referred customers 
contributed €4,295 million, equal to 41.2% of the total amount of loans and 
receivables assigned.  

Customers from the “direct” channel assigned loans and receivables of 
€5,603 million, up 30.7% on the previous year. 

Import factoring volumes include referrals from the other members of 
the Factors Chain International (FCI). 

 
Table 5. Breakdown of turnover by distribution channel 

 
  2015 Incidenza 2016 Incidenza Scostamento 

Banca Popolare di Sondrio 2,140,992 23.0% 2,287,186 22.0% 6.8% 

Gruppo Banca Popolare di Milano 991,874 10.6% 927,476 8.9% -6.5% 

Banco Popolare 1,191,148 12.8% 913,756 8.8% -23.3% 

Total shareholder banks 4,324,014 46.4% 4,128,418 39.7% -4.5% 

Total BANKS 4,563,473 48.9% 4,295,159 41.2% -5.9% 

Total IMPORT 472,410 5.1% 517,825 5.0% 9.6% 

Total DIRECT 4,288,416 46.0 5,603,070 53.8% 30.7% 

Total 9,324,299 100.0% 10,416,054 100.0% 11.7% 

(�’000) 

 
 
Changes to the regulatory framework 
 

The compliance unit identifies changes in the regulations due to 
measures introduced by the legislator and the supervisory bodies that would 
affect the company’s operations. 

 
During the year, as part of its duties to monitor non-compliance risks 

with banking transparency regulations, the compliance unit carried out checks 
of the information sheets, contractual documentation, periodic communications 
and management of customer complaints with positive results. It noted that the 
company substantially complies with the correct preparation of the pre-
contractual and contractual documentatios. In addition, a verification was 
carried out specifically dealing with the manner in which complaints were 
processed and the adequacy of internal procedures. In connection with this 
latest audit, following the suggestions proposed by the Board, the company is 
implementing specific intervention actions.  

 
There has been no issue from the verification of wear and tear, 

conducted on the basis of current legislation until 2016. In 2017, a further check 
will be carried out to ensure the company's transposition of the novelties 
introduced by the instructions issued by the Bank of Italy in 2016, in force since 
2017. 

 
The unit issued 4 opinions in the field of assurance and 2 advice in the 

field of consultancy. These include the validation of contractual matters relating 
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to the outsourcing of some important activities, in the light of the recent 
measures of the Bank of Italy. During 2016, the unit provided compliance 
assessments on the Rules of the Conformity Statement, being issued, as well as 
on the General Business Rules approved by the Board of Directors on October 
28, 2016 following a complaint review. 
 

The function has also supported the company in the obligations related 
to the entry in the Register pursuant to Article 106 of Legislative Decree no. 
385/1993. 
 
 
Organisational structure and human resources 

 
During the year, it has been modified and strengthened the organization 

of the commercial structure of Lombardy. This strengthening, achieved through 
the inclusion of new staff, will allow the transferors management especially 
focused portfolio and targeted development and widespread of new customers. 
Naples branch staff (closed at the end of July) was transferred to production 
units in Rome and Milan. 

 
Table 6. Average number of employees 

 
2015 2016

Managers 5 6

Junior managers 67 67

White collars 91 93

Total 163 166

including: part-time 18 17

 
Thirteen people left the company and another twenty people joined, 

most of whom with fixed term contracts. The average number for the year (166) 
is not weighted, in particular with respect to the 19 part-time contracts. 

At year end, the company had 170 employees: 92 men and 78 women. 
Staff with fixed term contracts was taken on during the year to deal with 

peaks in the workload and special projects. Their contracts will finish in the next 
few months.  

 
All employees were provided with professional training during the year 

in courses financed by the Banking and Insurance Funds, thus increasing their 
knowledge of regulatory and technical issues. A special course was held for the 
commercial service employees to develop their relationship and management 
skills. In addition, a course was held for the sales staff and the credit area, aimed 
at updating the new financial statements that will enter into force in 2017 with 
reference to the 2016 financial year. 
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According to the new state-regions occupational safety directives, the 
company continued to provide the related training to all new hires and 
contractors. 

 
Risks 

 
Interest rate and liquidity risk 

 
Reference should be made to section 3 of the notes - Risks and hedging 

policies for information on interest rate risks. 
The company’s liquidity risk is managed by the parent’s relevant units, 

which ensured it received the financial recourses necessary to carry out its 
business.  

 
Credit risk 

 
At year end, non-performing exposures, before impairment losses, 

amounted to €32.6 million, including forborne exposures of €0.01 million, equal 
to 1.48% of the total principal lent. Net of impairment losses, these exposures 
amounted to €4.1 million (€1.8 million in 2015), equal to 0.2% of the advances 
(0.1% in 2015), which totalled €2,199 million at year-end (€1,652 million in 
2015). The coverage ratio of non-performing loans was 87.5%. 

At 31 December 2016, unlikely to pay exposures, before impairment 
losses, amounted to €33.2 million, of which €13.3 million were granted (50.5 
million in 2015) and, net of impairment losses, amounted to €13.6 million (24.4 
million in 2015). 

At 31 December 2016, the company recorded losses of €30.4 million (€ 
14.2 million in 2015). In detail: €29.5 million due from sellers; €0.8 million from 
debtors; €0.1 million for less worthy credits and credits. The amount recognised 
was fully covered by the relevant allowances. 
 
Risk concentration and regulatory capital 

 
During 2016, the company continued the activities to ensure it complied 

with the ceilings set by the current relevant regulations using the applications 
introduced several years ago. 

At December 31, it had 23 “large exposures”. 
It should be noted that at the same date no counterpart exceeded the 

limit of 40% of the eligible capital except for a "large exposure", against a primary 
industrial group, in favour of that the Parent issued sureties to cover the amount 
in excess of the individual limit. 

Section 3 of the notes - Risks and hedging policies and Section 4 - Equity 
provide more information about risk concentration and the regulatory capital. 
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Going concern 
 
Given the current shareholding structure and the fact that the company 

does not have capitalisation issues and has historically made a profit, the 
directors are satisfied that it can continue as a going concern. 

 
Other information 

 
Pursuant to article 2428.3.1 of the Italian Civil Code, it is noted that the 

company did not carry out any R&D activities during the year. 
 
The Other disclosures section of the notes provides the information on 

related party transactions required by article 2428.3.2 of the Italian Civil Code. 
 
With respect to the disclosures as per article 2428.3.3/4 of the Italian 

Civil Code, the company states that it does not hold treasury shares or shares of 
its parent, either directly or via trustees or nominees. Moreover, it states that it 
did not either purchase or sell treasury shares or shares of its parent during the 
year, either directly or via trustees or nominees. 

 
Part D of the notes and the previous sections of this report provide the 

information about risks required by article 2428.6-bis of the Italian Civil Code. 
 
The company does not have secondary offices. 
 

Outlook 
 
According to Bank of Italy’s most recent estimates, a gradual recovery of 

the global economy is assumed. The world GDP should have increased by 3.1% 
in 2016 and could accelerate to 3.4% in 2017 and 3.6% in 2018, though with 
different speeds for larger advanced economies, with the exception of Italy, and 
Emerging markets (which may be affected by less favorable financial conditions). 

Growth in the Eurozone should continue at a modest pace, albeit in a 
gradual consolidation. The uncertainty about the world economy, partly 
conditioned by possible geopolitical tensions, will be the major risk factor for 
European economic activity. In addition, the uncertainty surrounding 
negotiations on trade relations between the European Union and the United 
Kingdom remains high. 

Projections for the Italian economy over the three-year period 2017-
2019 submitted by the Bank of Italy assume the maintenance of expansive 
monetary conditions and are based on the hypothesis that overall favorable 
credit conditions are maintained. 

GDP could increase by an average of 1% per year over the three-year 
period 2017-2019. Economic activity would be driven by domestic demand and 
the progressive strengthening of foreign trade. In the presence of favorable 
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financial conditions, the expansion of investment in productive capital would 
contribute to supporting economic activity. 

Consumption should grow at a pace close to those of the product and 
employment should expand, albeit at a slower pace than last year.  

Foreign sales could increase at a higher rate than international trade, 
benefiting from the depreciation of the Euro exchange rate against major 
currencies. 

Lastly, inflation, as measured by the Harmonized Index of Consumer 
Prices, could rise to 1.3% on average this year and next (from -0.1 in 2016) and 
1.5% in 2019; the significant upswing in 2017 may be due to higher prices of 
imported energy. 

As far as the factoring industry in Italy is concerned, the expected 
economic growth and the lower credit access difficulties would, according to 
Prometeia's forecasts, mean an average growth in the volume of receivables 
transferred to the sub-fund companies by 3.5% over the three year period 2017 -
2019 (higher than the traditional short-term bank credit). The Assifact’s surveys 
also confirmed the industry's positive expectations for the year just started, both 
in terms of turnover (+4.3%) and outstanding (+3.7%), as well as the general 
confidence of operators about the expected performance of the fiscal result for 
2017 (60% of the factors expects a growth in output over 2016). 

Factorit’s goals for 2017 have been prepared - in the light of the 
expectations of the Parent - on the basis of the forecasts on the performance of 
the Italian economy, with particular attention to GDP and considering the 
possible evolution of the Italian factoring market. 

The company will maintain high attention on all activities aimed at the 
containment of risks and the constant improvement of the quality of the 
managed portfolio; Under the business aspect, continuing the positive trend of 
2016, will pursue every opportunity for growth in terms of turnover and 
customer loyalty, both through partnerships with participating and contracted 
banks, as well as through direct business development operations. Finally, the 
possibilities for expanding the company's business to corporate clients, public 
administration and foreign companies will not be left out. 
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Dear shareholders, 
 
We propose you approve the financial statements as at and for the year 

ended 31 December 2016 and the allocation of the profit for the year as follows: 
 
Net profit for the year Euro 3,229,386 
Profits from previous years Euro  228,866 
Profits to allocate Euro 3,458,252 

Of which:  
5% of the profit to Legal Reserve Euro 161,469 
Profits to Extraordinary Reserve Euro 3,067,917 
Retained profits  Euro 228,866 

 
We invite you to approve the financial statements as they stand and the 

proposed allocation of the profit for the year. 
 
We would like to take the opportunity to thank the shareholders for 

their services to the company during the year. 
 
We would also like to thank the board of statutory auditors for its 

assistance provided during the year, to all the company’s employees for their 
constant commitment, to the banks that use our services, the members of 
Factors Chain International and the bodies of Assifact. 

 
 
Milan, 7 March 2017 
 
 
 
 
 On behalf of the board of directors 
 
 Chairman 
 (Roberto Ruozi) 
 
 (signed on the original) 



Financial statements
 

23
Factorit · Financial Statements 2016

 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT AND FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 
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CONTENT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The financial statements of Factorit S.p.A. comprise a statement of financial position, an 
income statement, a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in 
equity, a statement of cash flows and these notes, and are accompanied by a directors’ 
report. They have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 
endorsed by the European Commission pursuant to Regulation (EC) no. 1606 of 19 July 
2002, considering the interpretations issued by the International Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC) applicable at the reporting date. 
The company has drafted the financial statements on the basis of the instructions for the 
preparation of “The financial statements of IFRS financial intermediaries different from the 
banks” issued by Bank of Italy in its measure of 9 December 2016 as part of its powers 
conferred by Legislative Decree no. 136/2015 which transposes and implements the 
above IFRS. 
 
The financial statements are clearly stated and give a true and fair view of the company’s 
financial position and financial performance. 
 
The notes present, analyse and, in some cases, supplement the information provided in 
the financial statements. They include the disclosures required by the instructions for the 
preparation of financial statements by financial intermediaries. They also comprise all the 
additional information deemed necessary to give a true and fair view. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION   
(Euro) 

 
 
Assets 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

  10. Cash and cash equivalents 1.315 3.838 

  40. Available-for-sale financial assets 350.000 1.060.000 

  60. Loans and receivables 2.160.157.275 1.596.359.245 

100. Property and equipment  514.185 394.390 

110. Intangible assets 89.145 118.658 

120. Tax assets 36.418.871 39.299.204 

a) current 9.175.924 11.617.422 

b) deferred 27.242.947 27.681.782 

including: as per Law no. 214/2011 25.238.577 26.566.924 

140. Other assets 5.854.232 9.671.063 

TOTAL ASSETS  2.203.385.023  1.646.906.398 

 
 
Liabilities and equity  31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

  10. Financial liabilities 1.968.727.056 1.390.556.917 

  70. Tax liabilities 2.202.847 10.813.828 

a) current 163.518 8.774.666 

b) deferred 2.039.329 2.039.162 

  90. Other liabilities 12.368.320 20.595.891 

100. Post-employment benefits 2.363.578 2.350.613 

110. Provisions for risks and charges: 3.427.950 3.303.372 

a) pension and similar provisions  - - 

b) other provisions  3.427.950 3.303.372 

120. Share capital 85.000.002 85.000.002 

150. Share premium 11.030.364 11.030.364 

160. Reserves 115.270.549 102.670.876 

170. Valuation reserves -235.029 -175.138 

180. Profit for the year 3.229.386 20.759.673 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2.203.385.023 1.646.906.398 
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INCOME STATEMENT 
(Euro) 

 
 
 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

  10. Interest and similar income 25.937.168 35.382.640

  20. Interest and similar expense -4.064.970 -6.380.014

NET INTEREST INCOME 21.872.198 29.002.626

  30. Fee and commission income 24.146.154 27.609.358

  40. Fee and commission expense -3.525.190 -4.757.824

NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 20.620.964 22.851.534

 60. Net trading income -16.960 18.362

TOTAL INCOME 42.476.202 51.872.522

100. Net impairment losses on: -18.360.734 -2.830.058

a) financial assets  -18.568.657 -2.905.813

b) other financial transactions 207.923 75.755

110. Administrative expenses: -21.977.037 -22.522.246

a) personnel expense  -13.358.251 -12.747.770

b) other administrative expenses  -8.618.786 -9.774.476

120. Depreciation and net impairment losses on property and equipment -158.056 -148.614

130. Amortisation and net impairment losses on intangible assets -54.712 -64.162

150. Net accruals to provisions for risks and charges -141.639 1.349.289

160. Other operating income, net 2.018.014 2.462.574

OPERATING PROFIT 3.802.038 30.119.305

180. Net gain on the sale of investments 52.585 -

PRE-TAX PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 3.854.623 30.119.305

190. Income taxes -625.237 -9.359.632

POST-TAX PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS  3.229.386 20.759.673

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR     3.229.386 20.759.673 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(Euro) 

 
 

  Voci 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

10 Profit for the year  3.229.386 20.759.673 

 
Other comprehensive income (expense), net of tax, that will 

not be reclassified to profit or loss -

 

- 

20 Property and equipment  - - 

30 Intangible assets  - - 

40 Defined benefit plans  (59.891) 1.605 

50 Non-current assets held for sale  - - 

60 Share of valuation reserves of equity-accounted investees - - 

 
Other comprehensive income (expense), net of  tax, that will 

be reclassified to profit or loss  -

 

- 

70 Hedges of investments in foreign operations  - - 

80 Exchange rate gains (losses)  - - 

90 Cash flow hedges  - - 

100 Available-for-sale financial assets  - - 

110 Non-current assets held for sale - - 

120 Share of valuation reserves of equity-accounted investees - - 

130 Total other comprehensive income (expense), net of tax (59.891) 1.605 

140 Comprehensive income (captions 10+110) 3.169.495 20.761.278 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
(Euro) 

 
 

A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Amount 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

1. OPERATIONS 21.890.381 33.951.796

- profit for the year (+/-)  3.229.386 20.759.673

- net losses on financial assets held for trading and on financial assets/liabilities
  at fair value through profit or loss (+/-)  

 
16.960 -18.362

- net impairment losses (+/-) 18.360.734 2.830.058

-net impairment losses on property and equipment and intangible assets (+/-) 212.768 212.776

- net accruals to provisions for risks and charges and other costs/revenue (+/-)  (141.639) 1.349.289

- unsettled taxes and tax assets (+/-)  163.518 8.774.666

- other adjustments (+/-)  48.654 43.696

2. CASH FLOWS GENERATED BY FINANCIAL ASSETS  (576.599.987) 106.831.738

- available-for-sale financial assets 710.000 690.000

- loans and receivables with banks  -5.700.429 3.507.746

- loans and receivables with financial institutions -25.832.024 67.463.240

- loans and receivables with customers  -550.033.200 36.724.758

- other assets 4.255.666 -1.554.006

3. CASH FLOWS USED FOR FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  563.781.785 -128.902.673

- due to banks  578.995.587 -113.948.835

- due to financial institutions  -187.549 -58.720

- due to customers -637.899 -1.458.076

- securities issued  0 0

- other liabilities -14.388.354 -13.437.042

Net cash flows generated by operating activities  9.072.179 11.880.861

B. INVESTING ACTIVITIES   

1. CASH GENERATED BY 4.014 0

- sales of property and equipment  4.014 0

- sales of intangible assets  0 0

- sales of business units 0 0

2. CASH FLOWS USED TO ACQUIRE  -308.645 -157.629

- property and equipment  -283.446 -124.427

- intangible assets -25.199 -33.202

- business units 0 0

Net cash flows used in investing activities  -304.631 -157.629

C. FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

- issue/repurchase of treasury shares 0 0

- issue/purchase of equity instruments  0 0

- dividend and other distributions  -8.160.000 -10.200.000

Net cash flows used by financing activities  -8.160.000 -10.200.000

TOTAL NET CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR  607.548 1.523.232

  

  

RECONCILIATION 
Amount 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Opening cash and cash equivalents  6.815.993 5.292.761

Total net cash flows for the year  607.548 1.523.232

Closing cash and cash equivalents  7.423.541 6.815.993
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 DECEMBER 2016 
 
 

PART A Accounting policies 
 
 

A.1 – GENERAL PART 
 

Section 1 Statement of compliance with IFRS
 
Factorit S.p.A., a subsidiary of Banca Popolare di Sondrio S.C.p.a., states that the financial 
statements were prepared in accordance with all the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the 
related interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC), applicable at 31 December 2016, endorsed by the European Union as per the 
procedure set out by Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002, integrated by the “Instructions for 
the preparation of “The financial statements of IFRS financial intermediaries different from 
the banks” issued by Bank of Italy in its measure of 9 December 2016. 
 
 

Section 2 Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements are clearly stated and give a true and fair view of the company’s 
financial position and financial performance. 
These notes, prepared in Euros, are based on the following general principles set out in IAS 1: 

1) Going concern. The financial statements have been prepared assuming that the 
company will continue as a going concern; therefore, assets, liabilities and off-
statement of financial position transactions are measured on a going concern basis. 

2) Accruals basis of accounting. Expenses and revenue are recognised on an accruals 
and matching basis, regardless of when they are actually settled. 

3) Consistency of presentation. The presentation and classification criteria of the 
captions are consistent from one period to another to ensure comparable 
information, unless their modification is required by a standard or an interpretation 
or an improvement in the relevance and reliability of the caption’s presentation 
becomes necessary. In the case of a change in accounting policy, the new policy is 
applied retroactively, as far as possible, and the nature, reason for and amount of 
the captions affected by the change are indicated as well as the effects on the 
company’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows. Captions are 
presented and classified in line with the formats established by Bank of Italy for 
financial intermediaries; 

4) Materiality and aggregation. The various classes of similar items are presented 
separately, if material. Different items, if material, are presented separately; 

5) Offsetting. Except when required or allowed by a standard or interpretation or Bank 
of Italy’s instructions for the financial statements of financial intermediaries included 
in the special list, assets and liabilities and expenses and revenue are not offset. 

6) Comparative information. Comparative information in respect of the previous year 
for all amounts reported in the current year’s financial statements is disclosed, 
except when a standard or the interpretations permit or require otherwise. 
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Qualitative information or comments are included when this is useful to understand 
the financial statements captions. 

 
 

Section 3 Events after the reporting date
 
Pursuant to IAS 10, the Board of Directors authorized the publication of the Financial 
Statements on 7 March 2017. 
No significant events have occurred that could significantly alter the company’s financial 
and equity situation so that their omission could affect the economic decisions of the users 
of the financial statements. 
 
 

Section 4 Other issues
 
The company does not participate in the domestic tax consolidation scheme as its parent 
has not exercised the option under articles 117 to 129 of the Consolidated Income Tax 
Act. 
Reference should be made to the sections on risks for the disclosures required by IAS 
1.125. Specifically, with respect to the estimated recoverability of deferred tax assets, 
impairment losses on loans and receivables and legal and tax risks, the assumptions and 
uncertainty of estimates mean that there is a risk that significant adjustments to the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities may need to be made, including within the next 
year, as also noted in the Bank of Italy/Consob/Isvap document of 6 February 2009. 
 
In the preparation of the financial statements, we have taken into consideration the 
changes to the current accounting principles. 
 
The company has not made any exceptions from the IFRS when drafting these financial 
statements. 
 
The shareholders appointed KPMG S.p.A. as the independent auditors on 11 April 2014. 
KPMG’s term of engagement expires with the approval of the company’s financial 
statements at 31 December 2022. 
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A.2 – MAIN FINANCIAL INDICATORS 
 

ASSETS 
 
 

Section 4 Available-for-sale financial assets
 

4.1 Classification 
 
This category includes non-derivative financial assets that are not classified as loans and 
receivables, financial assets held for trading or held-to-maturity investments. It comprises 
securities not held for trading and equity investments that do not give the company control, 
joint control or significant influence over the investee and are not held for trading. 

 

4.2 Recognition 
 
Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets are initially recognised at their transaction date at 
their fair value, which usually equals the consideration paid or collected, including 
transaction costs or revenue in the case of non-current loans and receivables and 
securities. 

 

4.3 Measurement 
 
AFS financial assets are tested for impairment at each reporting date. Any subsequent 
reversals of impairment losses cannot exceed the previously recognised impairment loss. 
 

4.4 Derecognition 
 
These financial assets are derecognised when their sale entails the substantial transfer of 
all the related risks and rewards. i.e., when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire. In this case, the sale is recognised using the criteria applied for the 
asset’s initial recognition. 
 
 

Section 6 Loans and receivables 
 

6.1 Classification 
 
This category includes all non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted on an active market. It comprises loans and receivables with 
banks, financial institutions and customers and unquoted debt instruments that the 
company does not intend to sell in the short term. 
 

6.2 Recognition and derecognition 
 
Loans, receivables and instruments are recognised in this category when disbursed or 
purchased and they cannot be transferred to another portfolio. Nor can financial 
instruments of other portfolios be transferred thereto, except for that allowed by the 
amendment to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 issued by the IASB in 2008. 
The category includes advances made against the factoring of loans and receivables with 
recourse or without recourse without the substantial transfer of the related risks and rewards.  
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It also comprises loans and receivables assigned to the company and recognised as due 
from the original debtor when the risks and rewards are substantially transferred by the 
assignor as per an analytical valuation of the contractual clauses. 
If assigned to third parties, the loans, receivables and instruments are only derecognised if 
and to the limits to which all the risks and rewards are substantially transferred. 
 

6.3 Measurement 
 
Loans and receivables or instruments are initially recognised at fair value when disbursed 
or purchased, which is usually equal to the amount disbursed or the purchase price, 
including any transaction costs or revenue that are specifically attributable to each loan 
and receivable or instrument in the case of assets with a maturity that is more than short-
term. 
 
After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost and are tested for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the debtor’s or issuer’s solvency has deteriorated. The 
amortised cost method is not used for short-term loans and receivables, as their 
discounting has no material impact. 
 
The impairment test for loans and receivables consists of two stages: 

1) individual tests, to test individual impaired loans and receivables and to calculate 
the impairment loss; 

2) collective tests to identify portfolios of impaired loans and receivables using the 
incurred losses model and to identify any unrecognised losses on a lump sum 
basis. 

 
According to Bank of Italy’s criteria, applicable at the reporting date, impaired loans and 
receivables tested individually for impairment are: 

a) non-performing exposures; 
b) unlikely to pay exposures; 
c) exposures that are past due by more than 90 days. 

 
Pursuant to the ruling regulations, the company identifies exposures that are impaired past 
due. 
Starting from 2013, the company has tested this category individually while using the 
same basis as that used for collective impairment, applying the same impairment 
percentage to each exposure for debtors in the same situation. It calculates this 
percentage using internal management statistics. The “impaired past due” category is not 
discounted. 
 
Impairment losses on each impaired exposure equal the difference between their 
recoverable amount and the related amortised cost. The recoverable amount is the present 
value of expected future cash flows calculated on the following basis: 

a) contractual cash flows net of expected losses, estimated considering the debtor’s 
ability to meet its commitments and the realisable value of any collateral or 
personal guarantees given; 

b) the expected recovery time, estimated considering the procedures in place to 
recover the exposure; 

c) the internal rate of return. 
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The individual impairment loss is calculated in accordance with IAS 39 by discounting the 
exposure’s recoverable amount over the estimated recovery period. 
 
The following calculation parameters are used for non-performing and unlikely to pay 
exposures: 

a) recovery forecasts made by the relevant managers; 
b) expected recovery times, based on historical and statistical data; 
c) “historical” discount rates, being the contractual rates at the time the individual 

exposure is classified as “under dispute”.  
 
In 2013, the company reviewed the methods used to calculate the expected recovery times 
for non-performing and unlikely to pay exposures. Specifically, if the managers do not 
specify an exact recovery date, the recovery time is estimated to be four years for both non-
performing and unlikely to pay exposures, in line with the timeframes adopted by the 
parent. Section 8.1 of these notes shows the effects of application of these methods. 
With respect to the collective testing of performing exposures for impairment, the debtor’s 
credit standing is taken to have deteriorated when there is an increase in the related proxy 
PD and the LGD (loss given default) of exposures in the same portfolio. 
 
The collective testing of performing exposures included: 

a) segmenting the portfolio of performing exposures on the basis of the guidelines set 
out in the supervisory regulations; 

b) estimating the probability of transfer of the performing exposures to unlikely to 
pay/non-performing exposure categories (default rates) on a statistical basis; 

c) calculating the LGD on a historical-statistical basis, using a file of non-performing 
and unlikely to pay exposures. 

 

6.4 Recognition of costs and revenue  
 
Costs and revenue are recognised in the income statement on the following basis: 

a) interest income is recognised in “Interest and similar income”; 
b) impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses are recognised in 

“Impairment losses/reversals of impairment losses on loans and receivables”. 
 
 
 

Section 10 Property and equipment
 

10.1 Classification 
 
This caption includes assets used in the company’s operations (furniture, fittings, systems, 
hardware and cars). 
 

10.2 Recognition and derecognition 
 
Property and equipment are originally recognised at cost, including any costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Ordinary maintenance costs 
are expensed on an accruals basis. 
These assets are derecognised on disposal and no future economic benefits are expected 
from their use.  
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10.3 Measurement 
 
The assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is charged over the asset’s estimated useful 
life. The company checks at least once a year to see if there have been substantial 
changes in the asset’s original conditions that would require the initial depreciation pattern 
to be changed. When there is indication of impairment, the assets are tested for 
impairment. Any reversals of impairment losses cannot exceed the previously recorded 
impairment losses. 
 

10.4 Recognition of costs and revenues 
 
Costs and revenues are recognised in the income statement on the following basis: 

a) depreciation, impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses are recognised 
in “Depreciation and net impairment losses on property and equipment”; 

b) gains and losses on the sale of these assets are recognised in “Gains/losses on the 
sale of investments”. 

 
 

Section 11 Intangible assets
 

11.1 Classification 
 
This caption includes intangible assets held for production to be used over more than one 
year, whose cost can be measured reliably when they are: 

˗ identifiable, i.e., arise from legal rights or are separable; 

˗ under the company’s control; 

˗ able to generate future economic benefits. 
 
The caption solely comprises software. 
 

11.2 Recognition and derecognition 
 
Intangible assets are recognised at cost, including related charges and costs incurred to 
increase their value and initial production capacity. Goodwill is the positive difference 
between the cost incurred to acquire another business and its recoverable amount, which 
is the higher of value in use and fair value.   
Intangible assets are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use. 
 

11.3 Measurement 
 
They are recognised at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. 
Amortisation is charged over the assets’ useful life on a straight-line basis. The company 
checks regularly to see if there have been substantial changes in the asset’s original 
conditions that would require the initial amortisation pattern to be changed. When there is 
indication of impairment, the assets are tested for impairment. Any reversals of impairment 
losses cannot exceed the previously recorded impairment losses. 
Goodwill is not amortised but is periodically tested for impairment by comparing the 
carrying amount of the cash generating units (CGU) as required by IAS 36. Any negative 
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difference between the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the goodwill has been 
recognised and the carrying amount of the net assets of the same unit is an impairment 
loss. Impairment losses cannot be reversed. 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or whenever there is objective evidence of 
impairment. 
 

11.4 Recognition of costs and revenue 
 
Costs and revenue are recognised in the income statement on the following basis: 

a) amortisation, impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses are recognised 
in “Amortisation and net impairment losses on intangible assets”.  

b) gains and losses on the sale of these assets are recognised in “Gains/losses on the 
sale of investments”.   

 
 

Section 12 Tax assets and liabilities
 

12.1 Classification 
 
These captions include current and deferred tax assets and liabilities. 
Current tax assets include withholdings and advances paid during the year while current tax 
liabilities comprise taxes to be paid for the year. 
Deferred taxes refer to income taxes recoverable in future periods in respect of deductible 
temporary differences (deferred tax assets) and income taxes payable in future periods in 
respect of taxable temporary differences (deferred tax liabilities). 
 

12.2 Recognition, derecognition and measurement 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised under the balance sheet liability method only when it is 
probable that the company will have sufficient taxable profit in the same period as the 
reversal of the deductible temporary differences while deferred tax liabilities are always 
recognised. 
 

12.3 Recognition of costs and revenue 
 
Tax income and expense are recognised in the income statement as “Income taxes” unless 
they arise on transactions, the effects of which are recognised directly in equity. 
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LIABILITIES 
 
 

Section 1 Financial liabilities
 

1.1 Classification 
 
Due to banks include all financial liabilities, other than financial liabilities held for trading, 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and securities issued which form part 
of the company’s normal financing operations. 
Due to financial institutions and customers includes the consideration to be paid to the 
assignor as part of the assignment of loans and receivables that substantially transfer all 
the risks and rewards by the factor. 
 

1.2 Recognition and derecognition 
 
These liabilities are recognised at their settlement date at their present value which is 
usually equal to the amount collected by the company, for amounts due to banks, and to 
the amount of the liability, in the case of financial institutions and customers, given the 
short-term nature of the related transactions. 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the related contractual rights expire or are 
extinguished. 
 

1.3 Measurement 
 
After initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at the amount collected or their 
original amount, given their short-term nature.  

 

1.4 Recognition of costs and revenue 
 
Costs and revenue are recognised in the income statement on the following basis: 

a) interest expense is recognised in “Interest and similar expense”. 
 
 

Section 10 Post-employment benefits
 

10.1 Classification 
 
Italian post-employment benefits (TFR) are the benefits due by the company to all its 
employees when they leave. 
 

10.2 Measurement  
 
Post-employment benefits and the internal supplementary defined-benefit pension plan are 
calculated by third party actuaries using the projected unit credit method, as required by 
IAS 19 for defined benefit plans, as these benefits fall into this category. 
The calculation solely considers the benefits’ carrying amount and not accruals made 
during the year to external supplementary pension funds. 
Pursuant to the revised IAS 19 - Employee benefits, actuarial gains and losses are 
recognised directly in equity. 
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10.3 Recognition of costs and revenue 
 
Costs and revenue are recognised in the income statement on the following basis:   

a) accruals for post-employment benefits, seniority bonuses and the supplementary 
pension fund, as well as the payments to the defined contribution plan, are 
recognised in “Administrative expenses - personnel expense”; 

b) actuarial gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. 
 
 

Section 11 Provisions for risks and charges
 

11.1 Classification 
 
These provisions are set up to cover certain or probable liabilities, the amount or due date 
of which is uncertain. Accruals are made to the provisions for risks and charges in line with 
IAS 37. 

 

11.2 Recognition, measurement and derecognition 
 
Where the time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value 
of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.  
Provisions are derecognised when used or the conditions for their continued existence 
cease to exist. 
 

11.3 Recognition of costs and revenue 
 
Accruals to provisions are recognised in “Net accruals to provisions for risks and charges”. 
 

Foreign currency transactions 
 
Classification 
Foreign current transactions include all those assets and liabilities in currencies other than 
the Euro. 
 
Recognition and derecognition 
Foreign currency assets and liabilities are initially translated into Euros using the spot rate 
ruling at the transaction date. 
 
Measurement 
They are subsequently retranslated using the spot rate ruling at the reporting date. 
 
Recognition of costs and revenue  
Foreign currency transactions are minimal. Moreover, the company usually hedges foreign 
currency loans with funding in the same currency to avoid currency risk. 
 
Any exchange rate gains or losses (which are immaterial) are recognised in “Net trading 
income”. 
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Revenues and costs 
 
Revenues and costs are recognised and presented on an accruals basis. Revenues are 
recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits arising from the transactions will 
flow to the company and these benefits can be measured reliably. They are measured at 
the fair value of the consideration due. 
Specifically: 

- revenue from one-off fees and commissions on the assignment of loans and 
receivables are recognised over the term of the assigned receivables. Periodic and 
deferred fees and commissions are recognised when received on an accruals basis; 

- default interest is recognised in profit or loss solely when collected; 
- interest on considerations received from the assignors, and on payment extensions 

granted to the assigned debtors, is recognised on an accruals basis. 
 
Costs are recognised when there is a decrease in the future economic benefits that leads 
to a decrease in the assets or an increase in the liabilities that can be measured reliably. 
 
 

A.3 – TRANSFERS BETWEEN PORTFOLIOS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS  
 
The company has not transferred financial assets from one portfolio to another in 2016. 
 
 

A.4 – FAIR VALUE 
 

Qualitative information  
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction 
between market participants. It is not an actual price but an amount of money that the two 
parties involved in the transaction can agree on and as such is not affected by subjective 
factors. Moreover, fair value is not the current market value but includes all those factors 
that contribute to making the potential transaction happen: additional costs, probable 
changes to the price at the transaction date, future company performance.   
The IFRS classify fair value of financial instruments using a three-level hierarchy based on 
market input. 
Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the entity can access at the measurement date. A quoted price in an active market 
provides the most reliable evidence of fair value. 
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (prices) or indirectly (derived from prices). 
Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. An 
entity shall develop unobservable inputs using the best information available in the 
circumstances, which might include the entity’s own data. 
 

A.4.1 – Levels 2 and 3: valuation techniques and inputs used  
 
The company’s assets mainly consist of trade receivables assigned without recourse and 
advances granted against trade receivables assigned as part of factoring transactions.  
There is no observable market data about the value of the receivables assigned as the 
price is based solely on specific private agreements between the parties. 
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Accordingly, the company classifies the trade receivables in level 3 given the lack of 
external inputs. 
The most appropriate method to measure the fair value of the receivables assigned and the 
advances granted is to calculate their present value by discounting future cash flows using 
the effective interest rate agreed with the assignor. This rate also considers the other 
transaction costs. 
The receivables assigned and the advances granted usually have a short-term nature and 
the interest rate also tends to be floating.  
For these reasons, it can be said that the fair value of the receivables is equal to the value 
of the transaction, being the nominal amount of the receivables assigned in the case of 
factoring without recourse, or the amount of the advances granted. 
Financial liabilities mostly consist of bank loans and borrowings, whose fair value is equal 
to the amounts or funds received by the company, given the short-term nature of the 
liability.  
These captions are categorised as third level as they are regulated by private agreements 
agreed from time to time with the counterparties and, therefore, are not reflected in 
quotations or parameters observable on the market. 
 
 

QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURE 
 

A.4.5.1. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis: breakdown 

by fair value 
 
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 TOTAL 

1. Financial assets held for trading  - - - - 

2. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  - - - - 

3. Available-for-sale financial assets  - - 350.000 350.000 

4. Hedging derivatives  - - - - 

5. Property and equipment  - - - - 

6. Intangible assets - - - - 

Total assets - - 350.000 350.000 

1. Financial liabilities held for trading  - - - - 

2. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - - - - 

3. Hedging derivatives - - - - 

Total liabilities - - - - 

 

A.5 – INFORMATION ON “DAY ONE PROFIT/LOSS” 
 
The day one profit/loss, regulated by IFRS 7 and IAS 39.AG.76 is the difference between 
the initial recognition of the transaction price of a financial instrument and its fair value. 
This difference exists for financial instruments that do not have an active market and it is 
recognised in profit or loss over the financial instrument’s useful life.  
The company has not engaged in transactions that would have entailed the recognition of 
significant day one profit/loss. 
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PART B Notes to the statement of financial position 
 

ASSETS 
 
 

Section 1 Cash and cash equivalents – Caption 10 
 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015

a)  Cash  1.315 3.838

b)  Demand deposits with central banks  - -

Total 1.315 3.838

 
 

Section 4 Available-for-sale financial assets – Caption 40 
 

4.1 Available-for-sale financial assets: breakdown by product  
 

Captions/Amount 
31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

L1 L2 L3 L1 L2 L3 

1. Debt instruments  - - - - - -

- Structured  - - - - - -

- Other  - - - - - -

2. Equity instruments and OEIC units - - 350.000 - - 1.060.000

- including: measured at cost - - 350.000 - - 1.060.000

3. Financing  - - - - - -

Total - - 350.000 - - 1.060.000

 
The equity instruments solely refer to the contribution of two joint ventures as per article 
2549 of the Italian Civil Code involving the production and use of cinematographic works.  
They are maintained at cost as their fair value cannot be determined reliably. 
 

4.2 Available-for-sale financial assets: breakdown by debtor/issuer  
 
Captions/Amount 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Financial assets  350.000 1.060.000

a) Government and central banks  - -

b) Other government agencies  - -

c) Banks  - -

d) Financial institutions - -

e) Other issuers 350.000 1.060.000

Total  350.000 1.060.000
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Section 6 Loans and receivables – Caption 60
 

6.1 Loans and receivables with banks 
 

Composition 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Carrying 
amount 

Fair Value Carrying 
amount 

Fair Value 

L1 L2 L3 L1 L2 L3 

1. Deposits and current accounts  7.422.226 - - 7.422.226 6.812.155 - - 6.812.155

2. Financing  167.793 - - 167.793 91.186 - - 91.186

    2.1 Reverse repurchase agreements - - - - - - - -

    2.2 Finance leases  - - - - - - - -

    2.3 Factoring  - - - - - - - -

         - with recourse  - - - - - - - -

         - without recourse  - - - - - - - -

    2.4 Other financing  167.793 - - 167.793 91.186 - - 91.186

3 Debt instruments  - - - - - - - -

       - structured  - - - - - - - -

       - other  - - - - - - - -

4. Other assets  9.353.567 - - 9.353.567 3.729.705 - - 3.729.705

Total  16.943.586 - - 16.943.586 10.633.046 - - 10.633.046

 
The fair value of loans and receivables with banks equals their carrying amount, as they are 
on demand, short-term financial assets. 
 
“Deposits and current accounts” of �7,422,226, consists of temporary liquidity deposited 
with banks, mainly originating from large cash inflows at year end. 
 
Caption 4 “Other assets” includes: 

- �81 from foreign correspondents; 

- �663,332 from Banco Popolare (former Banca Italease S.p.A.) for the IRES 
reimbursement claim due to the non-deduction of IRAP on personnel expense as 
per Law decree no. 201/2011 filed by the company given that it was part of the 
domestic tax consolidation scheme of that company’s group up until 2009; 

- �8,690,154 of advances to assignors made on behalf of banks as syndicated 
factoring transactions for which Factorit acts as lead factor. 
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The fair value of loans and receivables with customers is their carrying amount, as these 
financial assets are mostly on demand or short term, net of impairment losses.  
 
Impaired assets are recognised at their estimated recoverable amount. 
 
The performing “Other financing” comprises: 

- Financing of �63,442,001; 

- accrued charges due from the assigned debtors on payment extensions granted to 
them of �586,751; 

- advances for assignments of loans and receivables that do not fall under the scope 
of Law no. 52/91 of �227,319; 

- other financing of � 6,893,600; 

- post office current accounts of �24,763. 
 
The impaired “Other financing” includes: 

- non-performing exposures of �57,415 for advances for assignments of loans and 
receivables that do not fall under the scope of Law no. 52/91 and other financing 
of �8; 

- unlikely to pay exposures of �353,804 for other financing;  

- past due exposures of �41,906 for accrued charges due from by the assigned 
debtors. 
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Loans and receivables acquired through without recourse factoring transactions are shown 
in the relevant guarantee line, if they are guaranteed. 
 
When more than one underlying guarantee has been given, the advances paid to assignors 
in transactions with recourse and the underlying assets acquired in transactions without 
recourse are recognised in the following order of priority:  

1) mortgages; 
2) pledges; 
3) factoring receivables; 
4) collateral. 

 
 

Section 10 Property and equipment – Caption 100 
 

10.1 Property and equipment: assets measured at cost  
 
Assets/Amount 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

1. Owned 514.185 394.390

a) land - -

b) buildings - -

c) furniture 143.131 178.050

d) electronic systems 56.443 47.465

e) other 314.611 168.875

2. Under finance lease - -

a) land - -

b) buildings - -

c) furniture - -

d) electronic systems - -

e) other - -

Total 514.185 394.390
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10.5 Property and equipment: changes  
 

 
Land Buildings Furniture

Electronic 

systems 
Other Total

A. Gross opening balance 1.563.497 3.153.140 970.571 5.687.208

A.1 Total net impairment losses 1.385.447 3.105.675 801.696 5.292.818

A.2 Net opening balance 178.050 47.465 168.875 394.390

B. Increases - 24.054 259.464 283.518

B.1 Purchases - 23.982 259.464 283.446

B.2 Capitalised improvement costs - - - -

B.3 Reversals of impairment losses - - - -

B.4 Fair value gains recognised in: - - - -

a) equity - - - -

b) profit or loss - - - -

B.5 Exchange rate gains - - - -

B.6 Transfers from investment property - - - -

B.7 Other increases - 72 - 72

C. Decreases 34.919 15.076 113.728 163.723

C.1 Sales - - 4.014 4.014

C.2 Depreciation 34.919 15.076 108.061 158.056

C.3 Impairment losses recognised in: - - - -

a) equity - - - -

b) profit or loss - - - -

B.4. Fair value losses recognised in: - - - -

a) equity - - - -

b) profit or loss - - - -

C.5 Exchange rate losses - - - -

C.6 Transfers to: - - - -

a) investment property - - - -

b) disposal groups - - - -

C.7 Other decreases - - 1.653 1.653

D. Net closing balance 143.131 56.443 314.611 514.185

D.1 Total net impairment losses 497.364 3.121.375 504.871 4.123.610

D.2 Gross closing balance 640.495 3.177.818 819.482 4.637.795

E. Measurement at cost 143.131 56.443 314.611 514.185

 
 
  



Notes to the financial statements 
 

50 
Factorit · Financial Statements 2016

 

Section 11 Intangible assets – Caption 110
 

11.1 Composition of caption 110 “Intangible assets” 
 

Voci/Valutazione 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Assets 

measured 

at cost 

Assets 

measured 

at fair value

Assets 

measured 

at cost 

Assets 

measured 

at fair value 

1. Goodwill - - - -

2. Other intangible assets   

2.1 Owned 89.145 - 118.658 -

 - internally developed assets - - - -

 - other 89.145 - 118.658 -

2.2 Under finance lease - - - -

Total 2 89.145 - 118.658 -

3. Assets under finance lease 

3.1 Unopted assets - - - -

3.2 Withdrawn due to termination of lease - - - -

3.3 Other - - - -

Total 3 - - - -

4. Assets under operating lease - - - -

Total (1+2+3+4) 89.145 - 118.658 -

 

11.2 Intangible assets: changes  
 

Total

A. Opening balance  118.658 

B. Increases 25.199

B.1 Purchases 25.199

B.2 Reversals of impairment losses -

B.3 Fair value gains recognised in: -

- equity -

- profit or loss -

B.4 Other increases -

C. Decreases 54.712 

C.1 Sales -

C.2 Amortisation 54.712

C.3 Impairment losses recognised in: -

- equity -

- profit or loss -

C.4 Fair value losses recognised in: -

- equity -

- profit or loss -

C.5 Other decreases -

D. Closing balance   89.145 

 
 

Section 12 Tax assets and liabilities
 
Article 16 of Law decree no. 83/2015, enacted on 27 June 2015, subsequently converted 
by Law no. 132/2015 of 6 August 2015, and amended the provisions of article 106 of the 
Consolidated Income Tax Act about the deductibility of impairment losses and losses on 
loans and receivables of banks and financial institutions. 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised using the liability method pursuant to IAS 
12 and Bank of Italy’s specific instructions. 
 

12.1 Composition of caption 120 “Tax assets: current and deferred” 
 

 

Total

31/12/2016

Total 

31/12/2015 

Current tax assets 9.175.924 11.617.422 

Deferred tax assets (through equity) 116.290 93.572 

Deferred tax assets (through profit or loss) 27.126.657 27.588.210 

Total 36.418.871 39.299.204 

 
Deferred tax assets refer to taxes on costs recognised in profit or loss and equity, which are 
deductible in future years in accordance with the current tax regulations and which mainly 
relate to impairment losses on loans and receivables, accruals to the provisions for risks, 
changes in actuarial gains and losses on pension plans which arose during the year and 
application of the provisions set out in Law decree no. 83/2015 referred to the 
deductibility of impairment losses and losses on loans and receivables. 
By 2015, the immediate deductibility of losses and write-downs of loans to customers is 
expected to align the Italian banking system with tax criteria already in place in several EU 
countries and effectively eliminating a distortion of the competition. 
For the sole financial year 2015, for the protection of the income tax, the deductibility has 
been reduced to 75% with the other 25% has been added to write downs and losses for 
the previous years which were not recovered as of 31 December 2014. 
The total amount non deducted in this format will now be recovered taxably in a 10 year 
timeframe – from 2016 to 2025 – according to specific percentages set in the Decree, 
replicating the previous rule. 
More specifically, the percentages are 5% for 2016, 8% for 2017, 10% for 2018 12 from 
2019 and 5% for 2025. 
Conversely, from the fiscal year 2016 exercise there is full and immediate deductibility. The 
amendment described above also has an effect on the IRAP regional tax. 

 

12.2 Composition of caption 70 “Tax liabilities: current and deferred” 
 

Denominazioni 
Total

31/12/2016

Total 

31/12/2015 

Current tax liabilities  163.518 8.774.666 

Deferred tax liabilities (through equity)  2.039.162 2.039.162 

Deferred tax liabilities (through profit or loss)   167 - 

Total  2.202.847 10.813.828 

 
Deferred tax liabilities are mainly represented by the tax arising from the different valuation 
of receivables according to IAS, when first applied; which is deferred to subsequent years. 
The deferred tax rates are: 27.5% for the IRES tax (article 77 of Presidential decree no. 
917/86) and 5.57% for the IRAP tax.   
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12.3 Changes in deferred tax assets (recognised in profit or loss)  
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

1. Opening balance  27.588.210 28.177.445

2. Increases  866.794 315.266

2.1 Deferred tax assets recognised in the year  866.794 315.266

a) related to previous years  - -

b) due to changes in accounting policies  - -

c) reversals of impairment losses  - -

d) other  866.794 315.266

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates  - -

2.3 Other increases - -

3. Decreases  1.328.347 904.501

3.1 Deferred tax assets derecognised in the year  1.328.347 904.501

a) reversals  1.328.347 904.501

b) impairment due to non-recoverability  - -

b) due to changes in accounting policies  - -

d) other - -

3.2 Decrease in tax rates  - -

3.3 Other decreases  - -

a)  conversion into tax assets including: as per Law no. 214/2011 - -

b) other - -

4. Closing balance  27.126.657 27.588.210

 
Deferred tax assets recognised in the year relate to accruals to taxed provisions for risks 
and the excess impairment losses on loans and receivables recognised in profit or loss 
compared to the deductible amount according to the relevant regulations governing the 
deductibility of impairment losses on loans and receivables.  
Deferred tax assets derecognised in the year refer to assets that arose in previous years 
and were deducted in the current year related to the utilisation or release of taxed 
provisions for risks.  
 

12.3.1 Changes in deferred tax assets as per Law no. 214/2011 (recognised in profit 

or loss)  
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

1. Opening balance  26.566.924 26.251.658

2. Increases - 315.266

3. Decreases 1.328.347 -

3.1 Reversals  1.328.347 -

3.2 Conversions into tax assets  - -

a) arising on the loss for the year  - -

b) arising on tax losses  - -

3.3 Other decreases - -

4. Closing balance 25.238.577 26.566.924
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12.4 Changes in deferred tax liabilities (recognised in profit or loss)  
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

1. Opening balance - 4.269 

2. Increases 167 - 

2.1 Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the year  - - 

a) related to previous years - - 

b) due to changes in accounting policies - - 

c) other 167 - 

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates - - 

2.3 Other increases - - 

3. Decreases - 4.269 

3.1 Deferred tax liabilities derecognised in the year  - 4.269 

a) reversals - 4.269 

b) due to changes in accounting policies - - 

c) other - - 

3.2 Decrease in tax rates - - 

3.3 Other decreases - - 

4. Closing balance 167 - 

 

12.5 Changes in deferred tax assets (recognised in equity)  
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

1. Opening balance 93.572 94.181 

2. Increases 22.718 - 

2.1 Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the year 22.718 - 

a) related to previous years - - 

b) due to changes in accounting policies   - - 

c) other 22.718 - 

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates - - 

2.3 Other increases - - 

3. Decreases - 609 

3.1 Deferred tax assets derecognised in the year - 609 

a) reversals - - 

b) impairment due to non-recoverability - - 

b) due to changes in accounting policies  - - 

d) other - 609 

3.2 Decrease in tax rates - - 

3.3 Other decreases - - 

4. Closing balance 116.290 93.572 

 
The table shown is composed solely by deferred tax on actuarial gain/loss from valuation 
on Post employment fund. 
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12.6 Changes in deferred tax liabilities (recognised in equity)  
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

1. Opening balance 2.039.162 2.039.162

2. Increases - -

2.1 Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the year - -

a) related to previous years - -

b) due to changes in accounting policies - -

c) other - -

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates - -

2.3 Other increases - -

3. Decreases - 

3.1 Deferred tax liabilities derecognised in the year - -

a) reversals - -

b) due to changes in accounting policies - -

c) other - -

3.2 Decrease in tax rates - -

3.3 Other decreases - -

4. Closing balance 2.039.162 2.039.162

 
 

Section 14 Other assets – Caption 140
 

14.1 Composition of caption 140 “Other assets” 
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Tax credits (not classifiable as tax assets) 466.185 469.498

Items in transit not yet posted to destination accounts  4.282.681 7.719.502

guarantee deposits 26.394 28.892

Advances to suppliers 2.958 2.704

Prepayments and accrued income not recognisable
under a specific caption 

507.560 654.384

Other items 568.454 796.083

Total 5.854.232 9.671.063

 

“Tax credits” includes the payment on account of €303,951 for the 2016 virtual stamp 

duty and €22,602 regarding VAT. 
 
They also include the claimed reimbursement for the deductibility of IRAP related to 

personnel expense for 2011 from IRAP (€125,786). 
 
In the caption “Items in transit not yet posted to destination accounts” is included an 

amount of €4,274,349 regarding bank receipts yet to be cashed in. 
 

Other items include €299,278 paid after first level court hearings against which the 
company has appealed or has commenced opposition proceedings. 
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LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
 
 

Section 1 Financial liabilities – Caption 10
 

1.1 Loans and borrowings  
 

Voci 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Due to 

banks 

Due to

fin. institutions

Due to

customers 

Due to

banks 

Due to 

fin. institutions 

Due to

customers 

1. Financing 1.963.269.309 - - 1.380.600.072 - -

1.1 repurchase agreements - - - - - -

1.2 other financing 1.963.269.309 - - 1.380.600.072 - -

2. Other loans and borrowings 2.861.697 154.753 2.441.297 6.535.347 342.302 3.079.196 

Total 1.966.131.006 154.753 2.441.297 1.387.135.419 342.302 3.079.196 

Fair value Level 1   

Fair value Level 2   

Fair value Level 3 1.966.131.006 154.753 2.441.297 1.387.135.419 342.302 3.079.196 

Total fair value 1.966.131.006 154.753 2.441.297 1.387.135.419 342.302 3.079.196 

 
The fair value of amounts due to banks, financial institutions and customers is their 
nominal amount as they are on demand or short-term financial liabilities. 
Due to banks includes: 
 

Amount 

On demand current account exposures 34.274.510 

Advances under reserve on cash orders or direct debits 81.111.651 

Hot money at maturity  136.000.000 

Commissions to be paid 522.511 

Foreign currency advances 52.749.764 

Supplier invoices received and to be received 722.587 

Due to parent 1.660.193.664 

Accrued expenses on hot money 1.016 

Accrued expenses on foreign currency advances 22.878 

Due to principals 532.425 

Total 1.966.131.006 

 
“Other loans and borrowings” from financial institutions entirely consists of invoices 
received and to be received for syndicated transactions. 
 
“Other loans and borrowings” from customers comprises factoring liabilities for receivables 
from assigned debtors recognised in the financial statements. 
 
 

Section 7 Tax liabilities – Caption 70
 
See section 12 of the Assets section. 
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Section 9 Other liabilities – Caption 90  
 

9.1 Composition of caption 90 “Other Liabilities”  
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Taxes payables 616.460 657.466

Personnel 202.290 172.555

Social security institutions 592.657 555.850

Suppliers 828.551 1.284.260

Invoices to be received 498.956 595.362

Amounts to be credited under processing 6.082.808 13.477.437

Provision for guarantees and commitments 120.315 328.237

Directors and Statutory Auditors 23.088 99.072

Other 3.403.195 3.425.652

Total 12.368.320 20.595.891

 
“Amounts to be credited under processing” include: 

- direct remittances received but not yet allocated to the relevant captions 

(€6,042,708); 

- bills to be credited (€29,189); 

- bills after collection (€10,911). 
 
“Other” comprises: 

- deferred income due to the allocation of commissions invoiced to customers over 

the receivable’s term on an accruals basis (€2,498,198); 

- items not attributable to the other captions (€497,415). 
 
 

Section 10 Post-employment benefits – Caption 100 
 

10.1 Post-employment benefits: changes  
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

A. Opening balance 2.350.613 2.324.262

B. Increases 129.681 43.696

B.1 Accruals  47.073 43.696

B.2 Other increases  82.608 -

C. Decreases 116.716 17.345

C.1 Payments  105.511 8.300

C.2 Other decreases  11.205 9.045

D. Closing balance 2.363.578 2.350.613

 
Italian post-employment benefits qualify as a defined benefit plan under IAS 19 and are, 
accordingly, measured using the projected unit credit method. 
 
The expected unit credit provides that the costs to be incurred during the year for the 
establishment of the TFR are determined on the basis of the share of the benefits accrued 
in the same year. According to the accrued benefit method, the employee's obligation is 
determined on the basis of the work already provided at the valuation date. 
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The following assumptions were adopted in the actuarial calculation: 
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Technical discount rate 1,54% 2,05% 

Annual inflation rate 1,5% 1,5% 

 
 

Section 11 Provisions for risks and charges – Caption 110
 

11.1 Composition of caption 110 “Provisions for risks and charges” 
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

1. Internal pension funds  - - 

2. Other provisions for risks and charges 3.427.950 3.303.372 

2.1 legal disputes 1.674.126 1.951.462 

2.2 personnel expense 896.849 861.910 

2.3 other 856.975 490.000 

Total 3.427.950 3.303.372 

 
The provisions for legal disputes is composed as follows: 

- claw-back claims of €800,690; 

- actions brought against the company of €873,436. 
 
The provisions for personnel expense refer to: 

- personnel training of €68,783; 

- other personnel expense of €828,066. 
 
“Other” solely comprises an accrual made during the year for risks of a possible dispute 
related to application of Law no. 136/2010. 
 

11.2 Changes in caption 110 “Provisions for risks and charges”  
 

 
Pension funds

Other 

provisions
31/12/2016 

A. Opening balance - 3.303.372 3.303.372 

B. Increases - 1.080.659 1.080.659 

B.1 Accruals - 1.080.659 1.080.659 

B.2 Changes due to passage of time  - - - 

B.3 Changes due to variations in discount rate  - - - 

B.4 Other increases - - - 

C. Decreases - 956.081 956.081 

C.1 Utilisations  - 531.081 531.081 

C.2 Changes due to variations in discount rate  - - - 

C.3 Other decreases - 425.000 425.000 

D. Closing balance - 3.427.950 3.427.950 
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Section 12 Equity – Captions 120, 130, 140, 150, 160 and 170 
 

12.1 Composition of caption 120 “Share capital” 

 
Tipologie 31/12/2016

1. Share capital 85.000.002 

1.1 Ordinary shares 85.000.002 

1.2 Other shares -

 

The share capital consists of 85,000,002 shares with a nominal amount of €1. 
 

12.2 Composition of caption 130 “Treasury shares” 
 
The company did not hold treasury shares at either 31 December 2016 or 2015. 
 

12.3 Composition of caption 140 “Equity instruments” 
 
The company had not issued equity instruments at either 31 December 2016 or 2015. 
 

12.4 Composition of caption 150 “Share premium” 
 

This reserve amounts to €11,030,364. 
 

12.5 Other information 
 
Availability and distributability of the equity captions  
 

 
Amount Utilisation 

Available 

portion 

Summary of use 

in the three previous years 

to cover 

losses 

for other

reasons 

Share capital 85.000.002 - - - -

Equity-related reserves - - - - -

Income-related reserves 

Legal reserve  10.873.379 B - - -

Share premium 11.030.364 A-B 7.164.605 - -

Share premium - A-B-C 3.865.759 - -

Other reserves 103.933.275 A-B-C 103.933.275 - -

Retained earnings 228.866 A-B-C 228.866 - -

Total 211.065.886 115.192.505 - -

Non-distributable portion - - 7.164.605 - -

Remaining distributable portion - - 108.027.900 - -

Key: A - capital increases; B - to cover losses; C - dividend distributions. 

 

Other reserves include the FTA reserve (€5,350,212), the reserve for unexercised stock 

options (€304,394) and the non-distributable actuarial reserve (-€235,029). 
According to the Article 2427, comma 1, n. 22-septies of the Italian Civil Law the proposal 
for the allocation of the profit of year ended 31 December 2016 is hereby shown: 
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Net profit for the year Euro 3,229,386 
Profits from previous years Euro 228,866 
Profits to allocate Euro 3,458,252 
Of which: 
5% of the profit to Legal Reserve Euro 161,469 
Profits to Extraordinary Reserve Euro 3,067,917 
Retained profits Euro 228,866 
 

12.6 Composition of caption 170 “Valuation reserves” 
 

These reserves have a negative balance of €235,029 and entirely relate to the actuarial 
gains and losses on post-employment benefits.  
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PART C Notes to the income statement
 
 

Section 1 Interest – Captions 10 and 20
 

1.1 Composition of caption 10 “Interest and similar income” 
 

 

Debt

instruments
Financing

Other

Transactions
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

1. Financial assets held for trading  - - - - -

2. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  - - - - -

3. Available-for-sale financial assets  - - - - -

4. Held-to maturity investments  - - - - -

5. Loans and receivables  - 25.936.324 - 25.936.324 35.382.640

5.1. Loans and receivables with banks - 50.498 - 50.498 11.828

5.2. Loans and receivables with financial institutions - 1.052.140 - 1.052.140 2.537.036

5.3 Loans and receivables with customers - 24.833.686 - 24.833.686 32.833.776

6. Other assets - - 844 844 -

7. Hedging derivatives - - - - -

Total - 25.936.324 844 25.937.168 35.382.640

 

1.2 Interest and similar income: other disclosures  
 
Foreign currency interest income on loans and receivables with customers and financial 

institutions amounts to €511,679 (2015: €846,984).  
 

1.3 Composition of caption 20 “Interest and similar expense”  
 

Voci/Forme tecniche Financing Securities
Other

transactions
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

1. Due to banks (4.035.081) - (4.035.081) (6.375.784)

2. Due to financial institutions - - - -

3. Due to customers - - - -

4. Securities issued - - - -

5. Financial liabilities held for trading - - - - -

6. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - - - - -

7. Other liabilities (29.889) (29.889) (4.230)

8. Hedging derivatives - - -

Total (4.035.081) - (29.889) (4.064.970) (6.380.014)
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Section 2 Fees and commissions – Captions 30 and 40
 

2.1 Composition of caption 30 “Fee and commission income” 
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

1. Finance leases - - 

2. Factoring 21.618.639 25.116.264 

3. Consumer credit - - 

4. Merchant banking - - 

5. Guarantees given - - 

6. Services - - 

- fund management on behalf of third parties - - 

- currency trading - - 

- product distribution - - 

- other - - 

7. Collection and payment services  - - 

8. Servicing for securitisations 2.527.515 2.493.094 

9. Other fees and commissions 24.146.154 27.609.358 

 
Starting from 2013, the company has used an IT tool for its factoring transactions to 
allocate one-off fees and commissions over the related term of the loans and receivables 

assigned. At the reporting date, €2,498,198 had been deferred. Other fees and 
commissions include fees for transactions that do not fall under the scope of Law no. 
52/91 (other financing, other sales, etc.). 
 

2.2 Composition of caption 40 “Fee and commission expense” 
 
Breakdown/Segment 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

1. Guarantees received (311.481) (302.238) 

2. Distribution of third party services - - 

3. Collection and payment services - - 

4. Other fees and commissions (3.213.709) (4.455.586) 

4.1 factoring (1.721.134) (2.895.502) 

4.2 other (1.492.575) (1.560.084) 

Total (3.525.190) (4.757.824) 

 
Like that set out for caption 30, fee and commission expense based on one-off fee and 
commission income are treated similarly. At the reporting date, the deferred amount was 

€66,602. 
 
 

Section 4 Net trading income – Caption 60
 

4.1 Composition of caption 60 “Net trading income” 
Item 3 of caption “Other financial assets and liabilities: exchange differences” shows a 

balance of -€16,960. 
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Section 8 Net impairment losses – Caption 100
 

8.1 “Net impairment losses on financial assets” 
 

 
Impairment losses  

Reversals of impairment 

losses  31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Individual  Collective  Individual Collective 

1. Loans and receivables with banks 108 108 988

  - leases   

  - factoring   1.185

  - other 108 108 (197)

2. Loans and receivables with financial 

institutions 3.042

 

356.127 

 

359.169 623.197

Impaired loans and receivables 

purchased 
  

  - leases   

  - factoring   

  - other   

      Other 3.042 356.127 359.169 623.197

  - leases   

  - factoring 1.746 287.559 289.305 621.961

  - other 1.296 68.568 69.864 1.236

3. Loans and receivables with customers (29.949.315) (1.980.689) 8.575.084 4.426.986 (18.927.934) (3.529.998)

Impaired loans and receivables 

purchased 
  

  - leases   

  - factoring   

  - consumer credit   

  - other   

      Other (29.949.315) (1.980.689) 8.575.084 4.426.986 (18.927.934) (3.529.998)

  - leases   

  - factoring (29.686.907) (942.792) 7.336.454 4.345.662 (18.947.583) (3.717.678)

  - consumer credit   

 - Pawn loans   

  - other (262.408) (1.037.897) 1.238.630 81.324 19.649 187.680

Total (29.949.315) (1.980.689) 8.578.126 4.783.221 (18.568.657) (2.905.813)

 
The table shows the effects of measuring the company’s loans and receivables on the 
income statement.  
 

8.4 Composition of sub caption 100.b “Net impairment losses on other financial 

transactions” 
 

 

Impairment losses Reversals of impairment losses Total 

Individual Collective Individual Collective 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

A. Guarantees given  (67.524) - 275.447 - 207.923 75.755

B. Credit derivatives - - - - - -

C. Commitments to grant funds - - - - - -

D. Other transactions - - - - - -

E. Total (67.524) - 275.447 - 207.923 75.755
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Section 9 Administrative expenses – Caption 110
 

9.1 Composition 110.a “Personnel expense” 
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

1. Employees (13.026.794) (12.402.787) 

a) Wages and salaries (9.173.759) (8.544.425) 

b) Social security contributions (2.488.616) (2.459.852) 

c) Post-employment benefits - - 

d) Pension costs  - - 

e) Accrual for post-employment benefits (47.073) (43.696) 

f) Accrual for pension and similar provisions: - - 

- defined contribution plans - - 

- defined benefit plans  - - 

g) Payments to external supplementary pension:  (753.250) (745.022) 

- defined contribution plans (753.250) (745.022) 

- defined benefit plans - - 

h) Other costs  (564.096) (609.792) 

2. Other personnel (24.083) (59.221) 

3. Directors and statutory auditors  (318.982) (302.852) 

4. Retired personnel  (19.789) - 

5. Cost recoveries for personnel seconded to other companies 121.149 106.898 

6. Cost reimbursements for personnel seconded to the company (89.752) (89.808) 

Total (13.358.251) (12.747.770) 

 

“Directors and statutory auditors” include the insurance premium of €27,562 for the civil 
liability policy agreed for the directors and statutory auditors. 
 

9.2 Average number of employees by category  
 

 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Average Reporting date Average Reporting date 

Employees 166 170 163 163 

a) Managers 6 7 5 6 

b) Junior Managers 67 68 67 67 

        Including: 3rd e 4th level 38 38 39 39 

c) Other employees 93 95 91 90 

Other personnel 5 2 9 9 

 
The average employee number does not include weighing, in particular, for part-time 
contracts. 
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9.3 Composition of caption 110.b “Other administrative expenses” 
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

Building costs: (1.571.529) (1.536.200)

- leases and maintenance (1.526.471) (1.484.404)

- utilities (45.058) (51.796)

Indirect taxes and duties (1.683.723) (1.975.324)

Postal, telephone, printing and other office expenses (484.256) (533.503)

Maintenance and charges for furniture, equipment and systems (494.067) (505.046)

Professional services and consultancy (441.596) (750.583)

Legal fees (1.547.740) (1.772.258)

Advertising, entertainment and gifts (129.528) (129.156)

Insurance premiums (70.386) (68.587)

Transport, rentals and business trips (419.482) (445.701)

Outsourcing (884.242) (1.156.053)

Data registration by third parties (380.116) (517.175)

Membership fees (54.071) (53.585)

Outsourcing within Group (90.000) (90.000)

Other (368.050) (241.305)

Total (8.618.786) (9.774.476)

 
 

Section 10 Depreciation and net impairment losses on property and 
equipment – Caption 120  

 

10.1 Composition of caption 120 “Depreciation and net impairment losses on property 

and equipment”  
 

 

Depreciation

(a)

Impairment 

losses (b)

Reversals of 

impairment 

losses 

(c) 

Carrying

amount

(a+b-c)

1. Property and equipment (158.056) - - (158.056)

1.1 Owned (158.056) - - (158.056)

a) land - - - -

b) buildings - - - -

c) furniture (34.919) - - (34.919)

d) operating (15.076) - - (15.076)

e) other (108.061) - - (108.061)

1.2 under finance lease - - - -

a) land - - - -

b) buildings - - - -

c) furniture - - - -

d) operating - - - -

e) other - - - -

2. Investment property - - - -

Total (158.056) - - (158.056)
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Section 11 Amortisation and net impairment losses on intangible
assets – Caption 130  

 

11.1 Composition of caption 130 “Amortisation and net impairment losses on 

intangible assets” 
 

 
Amortisation 

(a) 

Impairment 

losses (b)

Reversals of 

impairment 

losses

(c)

Carrying amount 

(a+b-c) 

1. Goodwill - - - - 

2. Other intangible assets (54.712) - - (54.712) 

2.1 owned (54.712) - - (54.712) 

2.2 under finance lease - - - - 

3. Assets under finance lease - - - - 

4. Assets under operating lease - - - - 

Total (54.712) - - (54.712) 

 
 

Section 13 Net accruals to provisions for risks and charges - Caption 
150 

 

13.1 Composition of caption 150 “Net accruals to provisions for risks and charges”  
 

Accruals Releases 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

1. Accruals to the provision for pension and similar provisions  - - - -

2. Accruals to other provisions for risks and charges (566.639) 425.000 (141.639) 1.349.289

a) legal disputes  (199.664) 425.000 225.336 1.839.289

b) personnel expense  - - - -

c) other  (366.975) - (366.975) (490.000)

Total  (566.639) 425.000 (141.639) 1.349.289

 
 

Section 14 Other net operating income – Caption 160
 

14.1 Composition of caption 160 “Other operating income” 
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

- recovery of taxes 244.582 232.031 

- recovery of costs 834.825 897.539 

- income for IT services rendered 244.800 756.654 

- other 1.008.102 750.655 

Total 2.332.309 2.636.879 

 

“Other” includes income of €62,740 for factoring activities and other assignments. 
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14.2 Composition of caption 160 “Other operating expenses” 

 
 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

- contingent liabilities (313.853) (173.115)

- other (442) (1.190)

Totale (314.295) (174.305)

 
 

Section 16 Net gain on the sale of investments – Caption 180 
 

16.1 Composition of caption 180 “Net gain on the sale of investments” 
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

1. Buildings - -

 - Gains - -

 - Losses - -

2. Other assets 52.585 -

- Gains 52.585 -

- Losses - -

Net gain 52.585 -

 
 

Section 17 Income taxes – Caption 190
 
Factorit did not participate in the domestic tax consolidation scheme in 2016 as its Parent 
did not exercise the option under articles 117 to 129 of the Consolidated Income Tax Act. 
The tax expense reflects a reasonable expectation of the taxes due for the year, based on 
the ruling tax regulations. 
 

17.1 Composition of caption 190 “Income taxes” 
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

1. Current taxes (-)  (163.518)  (8.774.666)

2. Change in current taxes from previous years (+/-)  - -

3. Decrease in current taxes for the year (+)  - -

3.bis Decrease in current taxes for the year due to tax assets as per 
Law no. 214/2011 

 
- -

4. Change in deferred tax assets (+/-)  (461.552) (589.235) 

5. Change in deferred tax liabilities (+/-)  (167)  4.269 

Tax expense for the year (625.237) (9.359.632) 

 
The current tax expense includes IRES at 27.5% and IRAP at 5.57%. 
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17.2 Reconciliation between the theoretical and effective tax expense  
 

 
IRES IRAP 

Total 
Tax base Tax Tax base Tax 

Theoretical tax expense 3.854.623 1.060.021 3.854.623 214.702 

Tax credit - - - - 

Increase in permanent differences 739.573 203.383 33.114.301 1.844.467 

Decrease in permanent differences (222.270) (61.124) (33.268.962) (1.853.081) 

Increase in temporary differences (1.702.781) (468.265) - - 

Increase in temporary differences (for the year as per 
Law no. 214/2011) - - -

 
- 

Decrease in temporary differences (5.986.623) (1.646.321) (764.267) (42.570) 

Effective tax expense (3.317.478) - 2.935.695 163.518 163.518

 
In the current tax period, in terms of IRES, the company has realized a fiscal operative loss, 
which will be reported and used in the future tax periods. 
 
 

Section 18 Post-tax profit (loss) from discontinued operations -
Caption 200  

 
None. 
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19.2 Other information 
 
Breakdown of interest and similar expense 
 

Amount 

Current account overdrafts (56.385) 

Advances under reserve (47.773) 

Hot money (3.582.689) 

Foreign currency advances (348.234) 

Prior year expense and other interest  (29.889) 

Total (4.064.970) 
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PART D Other information 
 
 

Section 1 Business operations
 

B. FACTORING AND ASSIGNMENT OF LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 

 

B.1 – Gross amount and carrying amount 

 

B.1.1 – Factoring transactions 

 

 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Gross amount
Impairment 

losses 

Carrying 

amount 
Gross amount 

Impairment  

losses 

Carrying 

amount 

1. Performing assets  1.822.124.090 7.467.375 1.814.656.715 1.490.070.883 10.890.515 1.479.180.368

 - exposures to assignors (with recourse)  1.525.871.049 6.437.553 1.519.433.496 1.475.123.060 10.807.429 1.464.315.631

 - assignments of future loans and receivables  104.065.686 499.601 103.566.085 97.239.347 850.267 96.389.080

 - other 1.421.805.363 5.937.952 1.415.867.411 1.377.883.713 9.957.162 1.367.926.551

 - exposures to assigned debtors (without recourse)  296.253.041 1.029.822 295.223.219 14.947.823 83.086 14.864.737

2. Impaired assets  56.931.121 38.221.949 18.709.172 74.771.715 46.494.433 28.277.282

2.1 Non-performing exposures  30.919.231 26.893.698 4.025.533 30.067.720 28.310.527 1.757.193

 - exposures to assignors (with recourse)  25.996.358 21.970.825 4.025.533 24.621.623 22.864.430 1.757.193

 - assignments of future loans and receivables  918.472 827.923 90.549 469.495 393.800 75.695

 - other  25.077.886 21.142.902 3.934.984 24.152.128 22.470.630 1.681.498

 - exposures to assigned debtors (without recourse)  4.922.873 4.922.873 - 5.446.097 5.446.097 -

 - purchased for less than their nominal amount  53.142 53.142 - 82.169 82.169 -

 - other 4.869.731 4.869.731 - 5.363.928 5.363.928 -

2.2 Unlikely to pay exposures  24.431.522 11.185.622 13.245.900 42.011.203 17.941.557 24.069.646

 - exposures to assignors (with recourse)  10.038.235 5.242.459 4.795.776 27.926.477 12.086.450 15.840.027

 - assignments of future loans and receivables  131.197 124.612 6.585 761.617 738.856 22.761

 - other  9.907.038 5.117.847 4.789.191 27.164.860 11.347.594 15.817.266

 - exposures to assigned debtors (without recourse)  14.393.287 5.943.163 8.450.124 14.084.726 5.855.107 8.229.619

 - purchased for less than their nominal amount  2.675 2.675 - 8.242 8.242 -

 - other 14.390.612 5.940.488 8.450.124 14.076.484 5.846.865 8.229.619

2.3 Impaired past due exposures 1.580.368 142.629 1.437.739 2.692.792 242.349 2.450.443

 - exposures to assignors (with recourse)  1.449.815 130.880 1.318.935 2.518.428 226.658 2.291.770

 - assignments of future receivables  - - - - - -

 - other  1.449.815 130.880 1.318.935 2.518.428 226.658 2.291.770

 - exposures to assigned debtors (without recourse)  130.553 11.749 118.804 174.364 15.691 158.673

 - purchased for less than their nominal amount  - - - - - -

 - other 130.553 11.749 118.804 174.364 15.691 158.673

Total 1.879.055.211 45.689.324 1.833.365.887 1.564.842.598 57.384.948 1.507.457.650
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The table also provides details of the advances granted against assignments of loans and 
receivables that do not fall under the scope of Law no. 52/91. 
 

 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Gross 

amount 

Impairment 

losses 

Carrying

amount 

Gross

amount 

Impairment  

losses 

Carrying

amount 

1. Performing assets  239.552.011 1.148.554 238.403.457 37.029.297 216.919 36.812.378

2. Impaired assets 1.469.963 1.383.827 86.136 1.469.963 1.385.208 84.755

2.1 Non-performing exposures 1.178.699 1.121.284 57.415 1.178.699 1.121.369 57.330

2.2 Unlikely to pay exposures 291.264 262.543 28.721 291.264 263.839 27.425

 2.3 Impaired past due exposures - - - - - -

Total 241.021.974 2.532.381 238.489.593 38.499.260 1.602.127 36.897.133

 

B.2 – Breakdown by residual maturity 
 
Past due loans and receivables, compared to the invoice payment date, are recognised in 
the “on demand” bracket if they are not impaired. If they are impaired, they are classified 
based on the due date estimated for financial statement purposes.  
 

B.2.1 – Factoring transactions with recourse: advances and “outstanding” 
 

 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Advances Outstanding Advances Outstanding 

 - on demand 193.989.200 422.245.200 131.748.483 321.010.316 

 - up to 3 months 958.065.033 1.332.976.322 1.119.649.326 1.602.452.829 

 - from 3 to 6 months 222.528.609 350.528.132 105.410.350 243.477.262 

 - from 6 months to 1 year  45.902.193 73.665.112 21.651.176 21.035.235 

 - after 1 year  109.088.705 21.523.178 105.745.286 16.018.196 

 -  open term - - - - 

Total 1.529.573.740 2.200.937.944 1.484.204.621 2.203.993.838 

 
The table provides details of the amounts shown in table B.1 above solely for loans and 
receivables with assignors. It does not include transactions that do not fall under the scope 
of Law no. 52/91. 
The allocation of advances for factoring transactions with recourse was assumed to be in 
line with the due dates for the related outstanding. 
The outstanding for assignments of loans and receivables that did not fall under the scope 

of Law no. 52/91 amounted to €193,861,469 at the reporting date. 
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B.2.2 – Factoring transactions without recourse: exposures 
 

 

Exposures 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

 - on demand 20.687.866 2.503.891 

 - up to 3 months 156.224.062 11.725.270 

 - from 3 to 6 months 33.204.570 802.083 

 - from 6 months to 1 year 93.281.381 8.062.354 

 - after 1 year 394.268 159.431 

 -  open term - -

Total 303.792.147 23.253.029 

 
The table shows the carrying amount of exposures purchased for factoring without recourse 
and loans and receivables purchased at other than their nominal amount, broken down by 
residual maturity bracket.  
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B.4 – Other information 

 

B.4.1 – Turnover of assigned loans and receivables 
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Transactions without recourse 1.926.132.592 138.808.772 

 - including: purchased for less than their nominal amount - - 

Transactions with recourse 8.417.627.219 9.147.817.745 

Total 10.343.759.811 9.286.626.517 

 
The table shows the nominal amount of loans and receivables purchased during the year 
(turnover) in factoring transactions, split between without recourse transactions and with 
recourse/formal without recourse transactions.  
 
The following table shows details of the turnover of “Other assignments” 
 
 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Without recourse - - 

With recourse 72.294.197 37.671.956 

  72.294.197 37.671.956 

 

B.4.2 – Collection services 
 
The company did not perform collection only services in 2016 and 2015. 
 

B.4.3 – Nominal amount of contracts to purchase future loans and receivables 
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

 - Contracts to purchase future loans and receivables during the year 125.747.913 258.781.107 

 - Loans and receivables at the reporting date 374.545.255 398.541.268 
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D. – Guarantees given and commitments 
 

D.1 – Breakdown of guarantees given and commitments 
 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

1) First demand financial guarantees given - -

a) Banks - -

b) Financial institutions  - -

c) Customers - -

2) Other financial guarantees given - -

a) Banks - -

b) Financial institutions - -

c) Customers - -

3) Commercial guarantees given - -

a) Banks - -

b) Financial institutions - -

c) Customers - -

4) Irrevocable commitments to grant funds 228.000.160 290.238.127

a) Banks - -

i) certain use - -

ii) uncertain use  - -

b) Financial institutions - -

i) certain use - -

ii) uncertain use - -

c) Customers 228.000.160 290.238.127

i) certain use 83.844 203.737

ii) uncertain use 227.916.316 290.034.390

5) Commitments underlying credit derivatives: protection sales - -

6) Assets pledged as collateral for third party obligations - -

7) Other irrevocable commitments - -

a) to issue guarantees - -

b) other - -

Total 228.000.160 290.238.127

 
The table shows the company’s commitment to grant funds solely for “approved with 
recourse” (formal without recourse) transactions, i.e., the difference between the approved 
with recourse outstanding and the advances for approved with recourse transactions 
(shown under assets with the assignor).  
 

The balance of €227,916,316 refers to irrevocable commitments to grant funds for 
uncertain use as the company’s commitment to grant funds is optional; in this case, it is 
not certain whether and to what extent the funds will actually be granted. 
 

D.2 – Financing recognised due to enforcement 
 
None. 
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Section 3 Risks and hedging policies
 

3.1 – CREDIT RISKS 
 

QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE  
 

1. General information 
 
Credit risk is traditionally the main risk involved in factoring. Constant modifications in 
credit disbursement, management and monitoring processes, based on the different 
counterparties involved, allow the company to contain this type of risk. 
Credit quality is checked by monitoring both the counterparty’s (assignor and assigned 
debtor) specific risk and the portfolio risk. 
With respect to specific credit risk, the company uses the current procedures to assess the 
individual party’s (assignor and assigned debtor) risk profile and that of its related parties, 
calculating the total potential risk related to the financed parties. 
In the case of portfolio risk, the company has always focused on concentration risk, which 
covers exposures to large economic and/or legal groups. 
This analysis also includes positions shared with the parent, Banca Popolare di Sondrio 
S.c.p.a., for which it assess the total amount of outstanding exposures. 
 

2. Credit risk management policies   
 

2.1 Organisational aspects  
 
Factorit’s lending process complies with the Credit regulations issued by its board of 
directors, which are consistent with the parent’s lending regulations, the reference model 
for the group companies. These latter regulations establish common criteria and methods 
for credit management, while still allowing for special features that may be based on the 
particular types of financing and the nature of the counterparties. 
 
The credit process is divided into the following phases: 

- lending policy; 

- preliminary investigation; 

- disbursement of credit; 

- review of credit facilities and monitoring. 
 

Lending policy  
 
Like that of its Parent, Factorit’s lending policy is based on criteria of prudence and risk 
containment. This is reflected in a strict screening of the counterparties receiving credit 
facilities and the constant monitoring of the risk positions assumed. 
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Preliminary investigation 
 
This phase aims to ascertain the applicant’s current and prospective capacity to repay its 
debts and to verify the consistency between the individual applications for credit facilities 
and the credit policy adopted. 
Specifically, the assessment defines the level of economic risk, considering the probability 
of default of the parties involved (assignor and assigned debtors) and the financial risk 
arising from their possible failure to repay the credit granted on the agreed repayment 
dates. 
 
The credit process system consists of logical phases that can be broken down by the 
parties involved (assignor and assigned debtors) and the different decision-making powers. 
Specifically, the preliminary investigation phase is performed by the commercial 
department, by obtaining all the information needed to establish the economic and 
financial position of the parties involved. For cross-checking purposes, the assessment 
stage is carried out by the credit department to define the amount of the credit facility and 
the transaction’s feasibility.  
 

Disbursement of credit 
 
This phase comprises a number of activities to allow the company to take a decision about 
whether to assume a credit risk by granting a credit facility based on the results of the 
preliminary assessment after assessing the transaction’s inherent risk. 
The credit facility is granted considering all the direct and indirect, short, medium or long-
term exposures with Banca Popolare di Sondrio Group and whether they are secured by 
guarantees. 
Membership of a legal or economic group, as defined by Banca Popolare di Sondrio Group, 
is an additional risk factor to that arising from the position considered individually, which 
has to be assessed with due care. 
 
The credit facilities are activated and made available to the borrower only after approval 
and according to the decision-making powers established by the board of directors in the 
Credit regulations, which may also require a preliminary opinion from the parent as well. 
The credit department checks that the credit facility complies with the board of directors’ 
resolution and, before finalising the agreement, that all the necessary contractual 
documentation has been collected, the guarantees obtained and that the exposure 
resulting from assumption of the risk does not exceed the maximum limits that the 
supervisory regulations sets from time to time for individual customers or groups of related 
customers. 
 

Review of credit facilities and monitoring 
 
Credit positions are classified in the various risk categories provided for by the company 
and in accordance with the general provisions of the supervisory regulations.  
These categories, which are based on the different irregularities that may arise, allow the 
classification of positions in order of increasing seriousness of the irregularities. These 
classifications are assigned automatically when objective or subjective events take place, 
as decided by management and the bodies in charge of risk monitoring and control on a 
uniform basis for the entire portfolio. 
Checks of the performance of credit facilities consist of their monitoring and review. 
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The company uses, inter alia, percentage rates based on the type of transaction and the 
customer’s exposure, as well as the opinion or reports from the departments responsible 
for managing the relationship with the assignor or the debtor. 
 

2.2 Management, measurement and control systems  
 
Generally speaking, the credit disbursement processes are automated for small amounts 
while they are discretionary and centralised at the head office for risk assessments of 
assignors and larger amounts.  
Moreover, the parent takes on a coordination role and prepares mandatory opinions for 
credit facility applications that exceed the established limits. 
 

2.3. Credit risk mitigation techniques  
 
The essential features of a factoring transaction (numerous parties and the assignment of 
trade receivables) make it possible to mitigate the factor’s risks through techniques 
designed to consolidate the transfer of risk with the assigned debtor and split it over a 
number of parties. 
 
With respect to without recourse transactions, many mitigation clauses can be 
implemented, including: 

- limiting the credit risk assumed for each debtor; 

- obtaining direct guarantees or collateral; 

- applying ceilings; 

- limiting the risk in relation to the volume of assets brokered and the profitability of 
the relationship (maximum annual ceiling); 

- assignor’s assignment obligations; 

- insuring the receivable. 
 

2.4 Impaired financial assets  
 
The technical and organisational procedures used to manage and monitor irregular assets 
depend on how irregular the position is. 
 
In the case of default, the company monitors its relationship with the debtor and related 
default trends, in order to: 

- check whether the counterparty’s financial/business difficulties can be reversed; 

- assess the repayment schedules presented, considering the debtor’s capacity to 
pay the amounts due within the timeframe set in the schedules, also considering 
the requests to ease the conditions applied to the positions in question; 

- examine the outcome of the measures taken to normalise/recover the loans and 
receivables (repayment schedules, reviews of the technical forms of credit, etc.) and 
the reasons for their possible failure; 

- calculate the related expected losses analytically, considering the reference 
economic and financial context. 

 
  



Notes to the financial statements 
 

80 
Factorit · Financial Statements 2016

 

With respect to doubtful debts, risks are controlled through the following procedures:  

- send reminders urging settlement for new positions; 

- appointment of debt collection companies if necessary; 

- assignment of new positions to third party legal advisors to file legal actions against 
the assigned debtors, assignors and any guarantors; 

- in the case of positions that are being settled, check that the counterparties have 
honoured their commitments; 

- regular checks of the correctness of the classification and analytical estimate of 
expected losses on the various positions. 

 
The classification of positions is in line with the requirements of supervisory and internal 
regulations, which also set out the general guidelines for the analytical estimate of 
expected losses. 
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Assets with poor 

credit quality 
Other assets Total

1. Financial assets held for trading - - -

2. Hedging derivatives  - - -

Total 31/12/2016 - - -

Total 31/12/2015 - - -

 

2. Credit exposures 
 

2.1 Loans and receivables with customers: gross amounts and carrying amounts 
 

 

Gross amount  

Individual 

impairment  

Collective 

impairment  
Carrying amount 

Impaired assets  

Performing  Up to 3 

months 

From 3 to 6 

months  

From 6 

months to 1 

year 

After 1 year

A. ON-STATEMENT OF 

FINANCIAL POSITION 
   

a) Non-performing 

exposures 133.870

 

- 1.457.580 30.999.094 -

 

28.507.587 

 

- 4.082.957
- Including: forborne 

exposures -

 

- - 1.057 -

 

1.057 

 

- -
b) Unlikely to pay 

exposures 4.882.769
 

585.714 11.677.675 15.795.358 -
 

19.342.260 
 

- 13.599.256

- Including: forborne 
exposures 4.348.170

 
2.150 8.658.077 317.587 -

 
10.222.121 

 
- 3.103.863

c) Impaired past due 
exposures 1.338.027

 
15.121 26.841 246.430 -

 
146.773 

 
- 1.479.646

- Including: forborne 

exposures -

 

- - - -

 

- 

 

- -
d) Unpaired past due 

exposures -

 

- - - 107.081.917

 

- 

 

352.252 106.729.665
- including: forborne 

exposures 
 

616.292
 

- 
 

3.870 612.422

e) Other assets - - - - 1.939.634.643 - 8.524.356 1.931.110.287

- including: forborne 
exposures -

 
- - - 400

 
- 

 
3 397

TOTAL A 6.354.666 600.835 13.162.096 47.040.882 2.046.716.560 47.996.620 8.876.608 2.057.001.811

B. OFF-STATEMENT OF 

FINANCIAL POSITION 
   

a) Impaired 204.159 - - - - 120.315 - 83.844

b) Not impaired - - - - 227.916.316 - - 227.916.316

TOTAL B 204.159  227.916.316 120.315 - 228.000.160

TOTAL A+B 6.558.825 600.835 13.162.096 47.040.882 2.274.632.876 48.116.935 8.876.608 2.285.001.971

 
The caption “Unimpaired past due exposures” comprises: 
 

Types/Exposures/Amounts 
Gross

amount

Individual

impairment

Collective 

impairment 

Carrying

exposure

 - up to 3 months 104.987.097 - 341.570 104.645.527

 - from 3 to 6 months 935.416 - 4.172 931.244

 - from 6 months to 1 year 355.679 - 1.581 354.098

 - after 1 year 803.725 - 4.929 798.796

Total  107.081.917 - 352.252 106.729.665
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2.2 Loans and receivables with banks and financial institutions: gross amounts and 

carrying amounts 
 

 

Gross amount 

Individual 

impairment 

Collective 

impairment 

Carrying 

amount 

Impaired assets 

Performing Up to 3 

months 

From 3 to 6 

months 

From 6 

months to 1 

year 

After 1 year 

A. ON-STATEMENT OF 

FINANCIAL POSITION 
    

a) Non-performing exposures - - - - - - - -

- Including: forborne 
exposures 

 
- 

 
- - - -

 
- 

 
- -

b) Unlikely to pay exposures  - - 4.547 291.264 - 266.642 - 29.169

- Including: forborne 
exposures 

 
- 

 
- - - -

 
- 

 
- -

c) Impaired past due 
exposures  

 
- 

 
- - - -

 
- 

 
- -

- Including: forborne 
exposures 

 
- 

 
- - - -

 
- 

 
- -

d) Unimpaired past due 

exposures  

 

- 

 

- - - 17.636

 

- 

 

9 17.627
- Including: forborne 

exposures 

 

- 

 

- - - -

 

- 

 

- -

e) Other assets  - - - - 103.185.444 - 76.776 103.108.668

- Including: forborne 

exposures 

 

- 

 

- - - -

 

- 

 

- -

TOTAL A - - 4.547 291.264 103.203.080 266.642 76.785 103.155.464

B. OFF-STATEMENT OF 

FINANCIAL POSITION 
    

a) Impaired - - - - - - - -

b) Not impaired - - - - - - - -

TOTAL B - - - - - - - -

TOTAL A+B - - 4.547 291.264 103.203.080 266.642 76.785 103.155.464

 
The caption “Unimpaired past due exposures” comprises: 
 

 
Gross 

amount 

Individual

impairment

Collective

impairment

Carrying 

amount 

 - up to 3 months 17.636 - 9 17.627 

 - from 3 to 6 months - - - - 

 - from 6 months to 1 year - - - - 

 - after 1 year - - - . 

Total  17.636 - 9 17.627 
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2.3 Classification of exposures using external and internal ratings  
 

2.3.1 Breakdown of credit exposure on and off-statement of financial position by 

external rating classes  
 

 
External rating class 

Unrated Total 
Class 1 Class 2 Class 3 Class 4 Class 5 Class 6 

A. 

 

On-statement of 

financial position 

 

- 

 

8.038.836 - - - -

 

2.152.118.439 2.160.157.275

B. Derivatives - - - - - - - -

B.1 Financial derivatives  - - - - - - - -

B.2 Credit derivatives - - - - - - - -

C. Guarantees given  - - - - - - - -

D. 

 

Commitments to grant 

funds  

 

- 

 

13.416.506 - - - -

 

214.583.654 228.000.160

E. Other - - - - - - - -

 Total - 21.455.342 - - - - 2.366.702.093 2.388.157.435

 
The company uses the ratings of DBRS Ratings Limited for its exposures with central 
administrations and central banks. 
 

 Rating class Rating 
Rating Italy at 

31/12/2016 

DBRS 2 Da AH a AL AL 
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3.3 Large exposures 
 
 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

a) Carrying amount 1.207.753.756 794.010.293

b) Weighted amount 945.870.421 591.945.714

c) Number 23 14

 
Pursuant to the regulatory provisions, the table shows the total amount and number of 
counterparties with risk positions that exceed 10% of the regulatory capital. 
Risks for individual customers are considered jointly when there are legal and/or economic 
connections between them. 
The “Weighted amount” is the sum of the on- and off-statement of financial position 
exposures with a customer, weighted according to the supervisory rules and considering the 
counterparty’s nature and any guarantees given. 
By subscribing into the new Financial Broker official List on 23/05/2016, the margins 
related to the revocable trusts granted to customers are also included in the Large 
exposure exhibit. This is the main factor for increments in the amount and number. 
 

4. Models and other methods to measure and manage credit risk 
 
The company has factoring management software that enables daily monitoring of large 
exposures using estimated values. 
 

5. Other quantitative disclosure 
 
The total amount of large exposures is well below the global limit of eight times the 
regulatory capital. 
As it belongs to a banking group subject to consolidated supervisory regulations, the 
company must comply with an individual limit for each “large exposure”, equal to 40% of 
its regulatory capital. 
At 31 December 2016, no counterparties exceeded this limit as the parent issued sureties 
to cover the excess of the individual limit for one large exposures with major groups. 
 

3.2 – MARKET RISK 
 
As the company does not have any assets in its trading portfolio, it is not exposed to 
market risk. 
Therefore, it is only subject to interest rate risk on assets in its banking book and marginally 
to currency risk. 
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3.2.1 Interest rate risk 

 

QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE 
 
 

A. – GENERAL ASPECTS, MANAGEMENT AND MEASUREMENT OF LIQUIDITY RISK  
 

A.1. – General information 
 
The company manages its market risks in line with the parent’s regulations. 
 
The parent manages and controls interest rate risk using the internal asset & liability 
management (ALM) model which processes the data that Factorit provides daily and 
makes the related operating decisions. 
Interest rate risk is caused by differences, in timing and methods, in repricing interest rates 
of assets and liabilities. The existence of diversified fluctuations in interest rates in general 
causes both a change in the expected interest income or expense and a change in the fair 
value of assets and liabilities, and thus a change in the carrying amount of the captions at 
risk.  
 
The characteristics of the company’s assets and liabilities significantly diminish the impact 
of a change in market rates on the fair value of assets and liabilities. 
The fast turnover of loans and receivables and the presence of exclusive short-term 
funding, ensuring frequent, closely spaced repricing, make it possible to keep lending and 
funding conditions aligned to market situations as they arise. 
 

A.2. – Models and other methods to measure and manage interest rate risk 
 
With respect to interest-bearing assets and liabilities, a 100 bp increase in interest rates 

over twelve months would lead to an increase of €2.3 million in the future interest income. 
The future interest income is the difference between future interest income on interest-
bearing assets and the future interest expense on interest-bearing liabilities calculated 
solely on transactions existing at the reporting date. 
The effects of a 100 bp decrease in interest rates over twelve months would be a decrease 

of roughly €0.1 million in the future interest income. 
 

A.3. – Other quantitative disclosures about interest rate risk 
 
Assuming a sudden 200 bp increase or decrease in interest rates, the change in the 
company’s assets would be below the warning threshold provided for in the regulatory 
provisions (20% of regulatory capital). 
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3.2.2 Price risk 
 

QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE 

 

1. General information 
 
The company is not exposed to price risks. 
 

3.2.3 Currency risk 

 

QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE 

 

1. General information 
 
The company is marginally exposed to currency risk as it systematically hedges foreign 
currency items. This risk mainly exists for the following, although the volumes are limited: 

˗ charges and interest income that is not offset by interest expense in currencies 
other than the Euro; 

˗ foreign currency guarantees for transactions in Euros. 
 
The company does not use internal measurement models but monitors its exposure to 
currency risk and reports on it once a quarter in accordance with the regulatory methods. 
 

QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURE 

 

1. Breakdown of assets, liabilities and derivatives by currency 
 

 

Currency 

US  

dollar 
Pound sterling Yen 

Canadian 

dollar 
Swiss franc 

Other

currencies 

1. Financial assets 78.664.883 4.611.890 18 - 16.186.529 1.733

1.1 Debt instruments - - - - - -

1.2 Equity instruments - - - - - -

1.3 Loans and receivables 78.664.883 4.611.890 18 - 16.186.529 1.733

1.4 Other financial assets - - - - - -

2. Other assets - - - - - -

3. Financial liabilities 78.777.072 4.590.278 - - 16.216.593 -

3.1 Loans and borrowings 78.777.072 4.590.278 - - 16.216.593 -

3.2 Debt instruments - - - - - -

3.3 Other financial liabilities - - - - - -

4. Other liabilities 8.500 1.810 - - 38 24

5. Derivatives - - - - - -

5.1 Long positions - - - - - -

5.2 Short positions - - - - - -

Total assets 78.664.883 4.611.890 18 - 16.186.529 1.733

Total liabilities 78.785.572 4.592.088 - - 16.216.631 24

Difference (+/-) -120.689 19.802 18 - -30.102 1.709
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3.3 OPERATIONAL RISKS 
 

QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE 
 

1. General aspects, management and measurement of operational risk  
 
Operational risk, in accordance with the Basel Committee's definition, is the risk of losses 
resulting from inadequacy or malfunction of procedures, human resources and internal 
systems, or from exogenous events. 
Operational risk also includes legal risk while strategic risks and reputation are excluded. 
Operational risks are managed both at Parent Company level and at individual level by the 
Factorit Risk Management Function. 
Based on the Group's operational risk management policy and in line with the principle of 
proportionality, the identification and evaluation of operational risks, including through Risk 
Self-Assessment techniques, of the collection and analysis of loss data (Loss Data 
Collection - LDC) and mitigating operational risks. 
During 2016, as part of the strengthening of the Operational Risk Management (ORM) 
framework, the Parent Company promoted the following actions: 

- upgrade of the Risk Self Assessment (RSA) system with the aim of achieving a 
more effective operational risk identification system to which Factorit participated in 
the competence part. 

- review of loss recognition process, Loss Data Collection – LDC, with particular 
attention to collecting information about legal risks regarding provisions for lawsuits. 

 
In support of the census activity, the use of applications already in use with the Parent 
Company was planned: GIS (spending commitment management), and Sphera new form 
and new layout made available to Factorit in December 2016. 
For measuring the capital requirement against the Operational Risk, Factorit adopts the BIA 
- Basic Indicator Approach proposed by the Supervisory Authority. The methodological rules 
for the calculation are defined in accordance with the Parent Company's time-to-market 
guidelines. 
 
Operational losses feeds the statistics referred to: 

- Italian Database on Operative Losses (DIPO): consortium initiative of the Italian 
Banking Association (ABI) aiming to collect data on operating losses suffered by 
participating intermediaries 

- Government Database of Operating Risks in Factoring business (GRIFO): a 
project promoted by the intermediary association of factoring (ASSIFACT), which 
includes the collection and retention of operational loss data in order to form a 
common database for associates. 
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3.4 LIQUIDITY RISK 
 

QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE 

 

1. General aspects, management and measurement of liquidity risk  

 
Bank of Italy has defined liquidity risk as the risk that a company is unable to meet its 
payment obligations or to fund its assets on a timely basis due to its inability to raise funds 
on the market (funding liquidity risk) and/or to disinvest its assets (market liquidity risk). 
 
Based on the above, the company contains risks and prudently aims to maintain a balance 
between the maturity dates of assets and liabilities while pursuing improved profitability.  
Nevertheless, the data in the following table could be misleading. The time mismatch 
between levels of assets and liabilities is justified by the fact that the company’s funds are 
almost completely held with the parent and Banca Popolare di Milan Group, the second 
largest shareholder.  
This circumstance makes it possible to state that liquidity risk is marginal. 
 
However, the company’s real liquidity risk is tied to the liquidity risk of its parent, whose 
adoption of specific guidelines is appreciable. They cover the concentration of funding with 
retail customers, who are thus very diversified, and in the interbank system, where there is 
a very high level of confidence in the bank. 
 

QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURE 
 
The following tables have been prepared pursuant to the supervisory instructions issued by 
Bank of Italy. In particular, non-discounted cash flows are recorded in the relevant residual 
maturity brackets excluding all collective impairment losses. 
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Section 4 Equity 
 

4.1 Equity 
 

4.1.1 Qualitative disclosure 
 
The company’s equity is considered adequate to cover existing and future risks. 
This is also due to a prudent dividend distribution policy which has allowed the company to 

allocate €87.9 million to the reserves in the last eight years. 
 

(�m) 

2007-2012 2013 2014 2015 Totale 

62,9 11,0 14,0 11,5 99,4 

 

4.1.2 Quantitative disclosure 
 

4.1.2.1 Equity: breakdown 
 
 2016 2015 

1. Share capital 85.000.002 85.000.002 

2. Share premium 11.030.364 11.030.364 

3. Reserves 115.270.549 102.670.876 

- income-related - - 

a) legal 10.873.379 9.835.395 

b) statutory - - 

c) treasury shares - - 

d) other 99.443.460 87.881.771 

- other 4.953.710 4.953.710 

4. (Treasury shares) - - 

5. Valuation reserves: -235.029 -175.138 

- Available-for-sale financial assets - - 

- Property and equipment  - - 

- Intangible assets - - 

- Hedges of investments in foreign operations  - - 

- Cash flow hedges - - 

- Exchange rate gains (losses) - - 

- Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups  - - 

- Special revaluation laws  - - 

- Net actuarial losses on defined benefit pension plans  -235.029 -175.138 

- Portion of revaluation reserves of equity-accounted investees - - 

6. Equity instruments  - - 

7. Profit for the year  3.229.386 20.759.673 

Total 214.295.272 219.285.777 
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4.2. Own funds and regulatory ratios 
 

4.2.1 Own funds 
 

4.2.1.1 Qualitative disclosure 
 
1. Common Equity Tier 1 – CET1 
2. Additional Tier 1 AT1 
3. Tier 2 – T2 
 
The supervisory body uses the regulatory capital to assess the company’s stability and that 
of the system. 
Regulatory capital is subject to the most important prudential controls, such as the 
requirements to meet risks and risk concentration rules. 
At the reporting date, the company’s regulatory capital solely consisted of Common Equity 
Tier 1 capital, which can be used without limitation for the calculation. 
 

4.2.1.2 Quantitative disclosure 
 
 2016 2015

A. Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) before application of prudential filters 214.295.272 211.125.779

B. CET1 prudential filters (+/-)  

C. CET1 including the elements to be deducted (A+B)  

Temporary (A +/- B)  

D. Elements to be deducted from CET1 89.145 118.658

E. Total Common Equity Tier 1 (C-D) - -

F. Tier 2 capital (T2) before application of prudential filters 214.206.127 211.007.121

G. T2 prudential filters  

H. Tier 2 including the elements to be deducted (F+G) - -

I. Elements to be deducted from T2 - -

L. Total Tier 2 (H-I) - -

M. Elements to be deducted from CET1 and T2 - -

N. Regulatory capital (E + L - M) - -

O. Tier 3 (T3) - -

P. Regulatory capital including T3 (N + O) - 

Q. Total (F + L + P) 214.206.127 211.007.121

 
The regulatory capital does not include profits which the company expects to distribute. 
 

4.2.2 Capital adequacy 
 

4.2.2.1 Qualitative disclosure 
 
Suitable regulatory capital allows the company to comply with the individual solvency ratio. 
This requirement is the ratio between regulatory capital and the sum of the risk-weighted 
assets. 

 
At the reporting date, the risks weighing the assets are credit, currency and operational 
risks. 
 
The company has chosen to use the standard method for credit risk, which entails the 
breakdown of the loans and receivables portfolio into sub-groups, considering the 
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counterparties and products, and applying different prudential treatments. The weighing 
ratios of the exposures are based, when available, on the rating assigned to each 
counterparty by specialised credit rating agencies.  
 
Starting from the first quarter of 2013, the company has identified DBRS as the external 
credit assessment institution (ECAI) to be used to calculate the risk-weighted assets for 
exposures with central administrations, local authorities, non-profit associations, public 
sector bodies and supervised intermediaries. It has updated the ratings for countries within 
the required times. The company informed the change of ECAI to the supervisory body 
within the legal timeframe.  
 
The individual ratio applicable to financial intermediaries included in the list as per article 
107 of the Consolidated Banking Act that do not collect capital from the public is 6%. 
 
Until 31 December 2017, financial intermediaries (if not exposed to supervised entities or 
groups of connected clients in which there is a supervised entity) that assume positions of 
risk beyond the limit of 25 % of the eligible capital, but in any case within 40% of them, 
meet a capital requirement for the portion of the risk position above the above limit of 25% 
("surplus") calculated as shown in the following table: 
 
Risk Position 

(% on the capital) 
Surplus weighting within each band 

Da 25% a 30% 200% 

Da 30% a 35% 400% 

Da 35% a 40% 800% 

 

As of 31.12.2016 the above mentioned surpluses amount to € 17.744.074. 
 
With respect to operational risk, Factorit uses the basic method. Accordingly, it calculates 
its requirement using a regulatory ratio of 15% applied to a business operating volume 
indicator identified as the three-year average of total income.  
 
As it belongs to a banking group that meets the consolidated equity requirements, the 
company benefits from a 25% reduction in its individual equity requirements. 
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4.2.2.2 Quantitative disclosure 
 

 
Unweighted amounts  

Weighted 

amounts/requirements  

2016 2015 2016 2015 

A. EXPOSURES   

A.1 Credit and counterparty risk  - - - -

1. Standardised method  3.603.941.029 3.690.879.026 1.765.271.308 1.482.882.652

2. IRB approach  - - - -

2.1 Basic  - - - -

2.2 Advanced  - - - -

3. Securitisations  - - - -

B. CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS  

B.1 Credit and counterparty risk  - - 105.916.278 88.972.959

B.2 Credit Risk Adjustment Risk  

B.3 Risk of regulation  

B.4 Market Risk - - - -

1. Standard method  - - - -

2. Internal models  - - - -

3. Concentration risk  - - - -

B.5 Operational Risk - - - -

1. Basic method  - - 8.354.026 9.274.809

2. Standardised method  - - - -

3. Advanced method  - - - -

B.6 Other prudential requirements - - 18.161.388 410.236

B.7 Other calculation elements - - - -24.664.501

B.8 Total prudential requirements - - 132.431.692 73.993.503

C. EXPOSURES AND CAPITAL RATIOS   

C.1 Risk-weighted assets  - - 2.207.194.878 1.233.225.296

C.2 CET1/ Risk-weighted assets  
9,705% 17,11%      (TIER 1 capital ratio) 

C.3 Regulatory capital including TIER 3/Risk-weighted  
9,705% 17,11%         assets (Total capital ratio) 

 
The weighted amount for credit and counterparty risk benefitted from the use of sureties 

issued by the parent on behalf of two major industrial groups (approximately €260 million). 
The risk-weighted assets, shown in caption C.1, and also used to calculate the ratios in 
captions C.2 and C.3, are calculated as the sum of the total prudential requirement (B.6) 
and 16.67 (inverse of the minimum mandatory ratio of 6%). 
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Section 5 Statement of comprehensive income
 

  
Gross

amount
Income tax 

Net

amount

10. Profit for the year 3.854.623 (625.237) 3.229.386

Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  - - -

20. Property and equipment  - - -

30. Intangible assets - - -

40. Defined benefit plans (82.608) 22.717 (59.891)

50. Non-current assets held for sale - - -

60. Share of valuation reserves of equity-accounted investees - - -

Other comprehensive income that will be reclassified to profit or loss  - - -

70. Hedges of investments in foreign operations: - - -

       a) fair value gains (losses)  - - -

       b) reclassification to profit or loss  - - -

       c) other changes  - - -

80. Exchange rate gains (losses): - - -

       a) fair value gains (losses) - - -

       b) reclassification to profit or loss - - -

       c) other changes - - -

90. Cash flow hedges: - - -

       a) fair value gains (losses) - - -

       b) reclassification to profit or loss - - -

       c) other changes - - -

100. Available-for-sale financial assets: - - -

       a) fair value gains (losses)  - - -

       b) reclassification to profit or loss - - -

           - impairment losses  - - -

           - gains/losses on sales  - - -

       c) other changes - - -

110. Non-current assets held for sale: - - -

       a) fair value gains (losses) - - -

       b) reclassification to profit or loss - - -

       c) other changes - - -

120. Share of valuation reserves of equity-accounted investees: - - -

       a) fair value gains (losses) - - -

       b) reclassification to profit or loss - - -

          - impairment losses - - -

          - gains/losses on sales - - -

       c) other changes - - -

130. Total other comprehensive income (82.608) 22.717 (59.891)

140. Comprehensive income (captions 10+130) 3.772.015 (602.520) 3.169.495
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Section 6 Related party transactions
 

6.1 Key management personnel’s remuneration  
 

Managers: remuneration of €448,231, including salaries of €335,410, bonuses and other 

incentives of €33,030, non-monetary benefits of €26,191 and fees for the position of 

managing director of €53,600. 
 

6.2 Loans given to and guarantees given on behalf of directors and statutory auditors 
 
See caption 110.a of the income statement. 
 

6.3 Related party transactions 
 

6.3.1. Transactions with Banca Popolare di Milano Group  
 

Statement of financial position 
 

 Loan assets
Financial

liabilities

Other 

assets 

Other

liabilities

Banca Popolare di Milano S.p.a.  3.869 129.042.906 7.600.958 669.306

Banca Popolare di Mantova S.p.a. 109.888 - 64.705 22.346

Total 113.757 129.042.906 7.665.663 691.652

 

Income statement 
 

 Interest income 
Interest 

expense

Interest 

expense on 

active 

syndicate

Factoring 

commissions

Other fee and 

commission 

expense 

Other expense

Banca Popolare di Milano S.p.a. 51 598.247 1.922.147 228.808 32.984 25.600

Banca Popolare di Mantova S.p.a. 93 - 14.171 22.346 278 -

Total 144 598.247 1.936.318 251.154 33.262 25.600

 

6.3.2. Transactions with the parent and associates  

 

Loans and receivables with banks 
 
Banca Popolare di Sondrio S.c.p.a. Amount

Ordinary current accounts – Euro 491.298

Ordinary current accounts - Foreign currency 49.730

Total 541.028
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Due to banks 
 
Banca Popolare di Sondrio S.c.p.a. Amount 

Ordinary current accounts 112.291.495 

Hot money 1.500.000.000 

Foreign currency advances 46.803.688 

Accrued foreign currency advances 7.613 

Principal accounts 6.694 

Commissions to be paid 1.082.997 

Supplier invoices 1.177 

Total 1.660.193.664 

 

Costs – banks  
 
Banca Popolare di Sondrio S.c.p.a. Amount 

Interest expense  3.184.013 

Fee and commission expense – expense 87.890 

Fee and commission expense – factoring 1.082.997 

Fee and commission expense – sureties 311.481 

Lease expense 209.478 

Service contracts  90.000 

Directors’ fees 21.360 

Seconded personnel 89.752 

Total 5.076.971 

 

Revenue – banks  
 
Banca Popolare di Sondrio S.c.p.a. Amount 

Interest income - ordinary current accounts 3.264 

Seconded personnel 121.149 

Total 124.413 

 

Costs – customers  
 
Sinergia Seconda S.r.l. Amount 

Lease expense 1.188.372 

Total 1.188.372 

 
Pirovano Stelvio S.p.A. Amount 

Hotels and restaurants 879 

Total 879 

 
 

Section 7 Other disclosures 
 
In accordance with the disclosure requirement of article 2497-bis of the Italian Civil Code, 
key figures of from the most recently approved financial statements of the bank that 
manages and coordinates the company are provided below. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

  Assets 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

10. Cash and cash equivalents 96.965.094 108.352.180

20. Financial assets held for trading  1.851.494.461 2.341.476.201

30. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 158.697.872 88.358.337

40. Available-for-sale financial assets 6.319.477.580 6.496.843.763

50. Held-to-maturity investments 125.776.716 148.620.141

60. Loans and receivables with banks 2.001.898.271 1.591.500.904

70. Loans and receivables with customers 20.021.406.321 20.535.826.086

80. Hedging derivatives  - -

90. Adjustments to generically-hedged financial assets (+/-) - -

100. Equity investments  488.595.257 411.565.806

110. Property, equipment and investment property 170.965.705 159.370.059

120. Intangible assets 12.959.574 11.917.167

      - including: goodwill  

130. Tax assets  447.243.565 360.228.837

 a) current 61.750.270 8.105.885

  b) deferred 385.493.295 352.122.952

      b1) including: as per Law no. 214/2011 353.003.389 320.197.761

140. Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups - -

150. Other assets 322.957.663 319.159.596

  Total assets 32.018.438.079 32.573.219.077

 
  Liabilities and equity 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

10. Due to banks 2.077.164.130 2.305.353.629

20. Due to customers 23.614.087.733 23.733.700.374

30. Securities issued 3.013.032.938 3.290.923.515

40. Financial liabilities held for trading  97.310.098 98.098.533

50. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  - -

60. Hedging derivatives  - -

70. Adjustments to generically-hedged financial liabilities  - -

80. Tax liabilities 48.309.394 45.844.815

  a) current - -

  b) deferred 48.309.394 45.844.815

90. Liabilities associated with disposal groups  - -

100. Other liabilities 633.552.831 679.296.184

110. Post-employment benefits 40.864.317 42.441.900

120. Provisions for risks and charges 159.602.686 156.141.205

  a) pension and similar provisions 117.912.386 117.042.900

  b) other provisions 41.690.300 39.098.305

130. Valuation reserves 85.111.584 44.266.836

140. Redeemable shares - -

150. Equity instruments - -

160. Reserves 735.497.376 665.468.678

170. Share premium  79.005.128 79.005.128

180. Share capital 1.360.157.331 1.360.157.331

190. Treasury shares (-) -25.321.549 -25.031.162

200. Profit for the year  100.064.082 97.552.111

  Total liabilities and equity 32.018.438.079 32.573.219.077



Notes to the financial statements
 

109
Factorit · Financial Statements 2016

 

INCOME STATEMENT 
 

   31/12/2015 31/12/2014

10. Interest and similar income 704.049.473 859.665.284

20. Interest and similar expense -224.584.075 -339.105.440

30. Net interest income 479.465.398 520.559.844

40. Fee and commission income 264.627.405 257.984.748

50. Fee and commission expense -14.837.612 -15.747.499

60. Net fee and commission income 249.789.793 242.237.249

70. Dividends and similar income  16.272.895 16.242.011

80. Net trading income 45.584.573 90.113.864

90. Net hedging income - -

100. Net gain from sales or repurchases of:  140.033.949 94.154.389

  b) available-for-sale financial assets  -91 95.504.969

  c) held-to-maturity investments  139.926.360 -

  d) financial liabilities  107.680 -1.350.580

110. Net gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6.293.949 5.186.918

120. Total income 937.440.557 968.494.275

130. Net impairment losses on:  -400.487.707 -473.560.652

  a) loans and receivables  -381.403.319 -454.076.144

  b) available-for-sale financial assets  -8.202.923 -19.307.623

  c) held-to-maturity investments  -9.965.039 -

  d) other financial transactions  -916.426 -176.885

140. Net financial income  536.952.850 494.933.623

150. Administrative expenses -434.650.707 -381.864.998

  a) personnel expense -181.209.011 -175.541.214

  b) other administrative expenses -253.441.696 -206.323.784

160. Net accruals to provisions for risks and charges  -2.134.105 3.455.337

170. Depreciation and net impairment losses on property, equipment and investment property  -13.548.252 -12.750.956

180. Amortisation and net impairment losses on intangible assets  -12.317.392 -11.913.001

190. Other operating income, net  69.211.415 70.782.043

200. Operating costs  -393.439.041 -332.291.575

210. Net losses on equity investments  577.727 -648.217

220. 
 
Net fair value gains (losses) on property, equipment and investment property and 
intangible assets 

 
- -

230. Impairment losses on goodwill - -

240. Net gain on the sale of investments  7.080 10.768

250. Pre-tax profit from continuing operations 144.098.616 162.004.599

260. Income taxes  -44.034.534 -64.452.488

270. Post-tax profit from continuing operations 100.064.082 97.552.111

280. Post-tax profit (loss) from discontinued operations  - -

270. Profit for the year  100.064.082 97.552.111

 
Pursuant to article 149-duedecies of Consob’s Issuer Regulation, the following table shows 
the fees for services provided by the following parties in 2015:  

- the independent auditors for audit services. 
 
Type of service Service provider 2016 fees 

Audit KPMG S.p.A. 58.000 

Half-year checks KPMG S.p.A. 12.000 

(Euro) 

 
The above fees do not include VAT or out-of-pocket expenses. 



110 
Factorit · Financial Statements 2016

 

  



 

 

Report from the Board of Auditors to the Shareholders’ Meeting 

Dear Shareholders, 

In carrying out our duties pursuant to the law, we have followed the rules of 

conduct recommended by the Italian National Council of Accountants and Tax 

Advisors. Therefore, in accordance with the law and the aforementioned rules, we 

have monitored compliance with the law, the bylaws, and proper standards of 

administration in management of the Company, as well as the adequacy of the 

organizational structure and systems of internal control. 

With regard to compliance with the law, the bylaws, and proper standards 

of administration, we note that during fiscal 2016, the Directors did not perform 

any transactions contrary to the provisions of law or the bylaws, nor did they 

perform any transactions which were manifestly imprudent or detrimental to the 

Company, or any atypical and/or unusual transactions. We also note that in terms 

of business management, the Directors and Management adhered to proper 

standards of administration and economic rationality. In this regard, we add that 

in operating terms, we did not note any conduct which diverges from or conflicts 

with decisions made by the Directors. 

With regard to the meetings of company bodies held during 2016, we note 

that the Board of Auditors participated in the meeting of March 23, 2016 to 

approve the 2015 financial statements, and in all nine meetings of the Board of 

Directors. We can attest that all meetings of the Board of Directors, as well as said 

shareholders’ meetings, were called and held in compliance with the applicable 

laws. We also note that the Board of Auditors met eleven times during fiscal 2016. 

In terms of our activity of supervising the adequacy of the organizational 

structure, we focused on constant monitoring of the organizational structure’s 

ability to meet the company’s operating needs, as well as the needs arising from 

membership in the Banca Popolare di Sondrio Banking Group. In this regard, we 

have not detected any problems worthy of note. 

 



 

 

The activity of supervising the adequacy of the internal control systems was 

carried out primarily by maintaining relationships with the responsible structures 

of the company and the parent company, as well as with Unione Fiduciaria, which 

is responsible for the Conformity Function. We also note that following the entry 

into force of the 15th update of Banca d’Italia’s Circular 263/06, we have also 

supervised the company’s actions to comply with the new provisions on 

controlling risks. In this regard, it becomes particularly important to develop IT 

and reporting instruments especially designed to provide more effective control of 

all types of risk. 

We have noted that there were no atypical or unusual transactions with 

group companies, third parties, or related parties. The explanatory note to the 

financial statements provides a description of the nature and aggregate amount of 

transactions with related parties, the parent company, and affiliated companies 

during the year, as well as the financial and economic effects of such. 

During the year, we periodically contacted the Supervisory Board, obtaining 

regular updates on its supervisory activity regarding the proper functioning and 

appropriateness of the organization, management and control Model pursuant to 

Leg. Decree 231/2001. This activity did not reveal situations or conduct that would 

create risks or circumstances that might result in the company’s possible 

administrative liability. 

Controls that regard the keeping of regular accounts and accurate reporting 

of operating events in the financial statements were performed by the auditing 

company KPMG SpA. This company has informed us that its auditing work did not 

reveal exceptions with regard to the financial statements, or any irregularities with 

regard to the organization and appropriateness of the accounting systems in terms 

of presenting an accurate picture of company affairs. We monitored the layout and 

formation of the financial statements, in particular with regard to the accounting 

standards adopted, whether the financial statements were consistent with 

company affairs during the fiscal year, and the completeness of the management 

report. We can therefore attest that the financial statements that the Directors 

have submitted for your approval were prepared in accordance with the specific 

provisions applicable to their formation and that they have been drawn up in 

application of the IAS/IFRS international accounting standards adopted by the 

European Union. The accounting format complies with the form requirements 

applicable to credit and financial entities.  

 



 

 

With regard to the management report, we note that it faithfully 

summarizes operating performance and the elements that impacted economic 

results for the year. Therefore, it complies with the applicable provisions of law and 

is consistent with the data and information provided in the financial statements 

and explanatory note. 

To complete our report, we declare that the Board has received no negative 

reports from third parties or any complaints pursuant to Art. 2408 of the Italian 

Civil Code. 

In light of the above, and noting that the audit report released by KPMG SpA 

contains no irregularities regarding the financial statements, or any requests for 

information regarding what the Directors have analytically explained in the 

management report and the explanatory note, with regard to the matters within 

our competence, we express our opinion in favor of approving the financial 

statements for fiscal 2016 and the Directors’ proposal for allocating net profit. 

Milan, March 24, 2017 

THE BOARD OF AUDITORS 
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